

REPORT



Medicare Part D at Ten Years:

October 2015

The 2015 Marketplace and Key Trends, 2006–2015

Prepared by:

Jack Hoadley Georgetown University

and

Juliette Cubanski and Tricia Neuman Kaiser Family Foundation

Contents

Executive Summary	1
List of Exhibits	
Introduction	6
Findings	7
Section 1: Part D Enrollment and Plan Availability	7
Beneficiary Participation in Part D	7
Continuity of Part D Plan Offerings	
Firm Participation	
Market Concentration	10
Market Share Among Part D Plans	10
Plan Availability	12
Section 1 Exhibits	14
Section 2: Part D Premiums	
National Premium Trends	
Plan-Level Premium Trends	
Geographic Variations in Premiums	
Premium Variations by Plan Type	
Section 2 Exhibits	
Section 3: Part D Benefit Design and Cost Sharing	
Plan Benefit Design	
Part D Cost-Sharing Amounts	
Specialty Tiers	
Tiered Pharmacy Networks	
Formularies and Utilization Management	
The Coverage Gap	
Section 3 Exhibits	
Section 4: The Low-Income Subsidy Program	
Low-Income Subsidy Plan Availability	
Premiums for Low-Income Subsidy Enrollees	
Section 4 Exhibits	
Section 5: Part D Plan Performance Ratings	
Section 5 Exhibits	

Conclusion	
Methodology	
Appendix	
Endnotes	

Executive Summary

Since 2006, Medicare beneficiaries have had access through Medicare Part D to prescription drug coverage offered by private plans, either stand-alone prescription drug plans (PDPs) or Medicare Advantage prescription drug plans (MA-PD plans). Now in its tenth year, Part D has evolved due to changes in the private plan marketplace and the laws and regulations that govern the program. This report presents findings from an analysis of the Medicare Part D marketplace in 2015 and changes in features of the drug benefit offered by Part D plans since 2006. Key findings are summarized below.

KEY FINDINGS

PART D ENROLLMENT AND PLAN AVAILABILITY

In 2015, more than 39 million Medicare beneficiaries are enrolled in Medicare drug plans. Since 2006, the share of Medicare beneficiaries enrolled in a Part D plan has increased from 53 percent to 72 percent of all eligible Medicare beneficiaries.

- The majority (61 percent) of Part D enrollees are in PDPs, but enrollment in MA-PD plans is growing more rapidly. MA-PD plan enrollment accounts for two-thirds of the net increase in Part D enrollment from 2014 to 2015, and the share of MA-PD enrollment has grown over the past decade from 28 percent to 39 percent.
- In 2015, 6.6 million Medicare beneficiaries are enrolled in an employer-only Part D plan designed solely for retirees of a former employer. Enrollment in employer-only Part D plans has quadrupled since 2006.

The average Part D enrollee had a choice of 30 PDPs and 15 MA-PD plans in 2015.

• The average number of PDPs offered to enrollees has dropped from a high of 55 plans in 2007 to 30 plans in 2015. Between 2014 and 2015, the average number of PDPs offered to enrollees dropped from 35 to 30 plans, while the number of MA-PD plans per enrollee increased slightly from 14 to 15 plans.

In 2015, three Part D sponsors account for half of all Part D PDP and MA-PD enrollees.

• UnitedHealth, Humana, and CVS Health have enrolled half of all participants in Part D. This level of market concentration is relatively unchanged since 2006. UnitedHealth and Humana have topped enrollment since the program began, while enrollment in CVS Health has grown through acquisition of other plan sponsors. UnitedHealth, by itself, has maintained the top position for all ten years of the program, and in 2015 provides coverage to more than one in five PDP and MA-PD enrollees.

PART D PREMIUMS

Average monthly PDP premiums have been essentially flat since 2010; MA-PD premiums have risen modestly in the past few years.

• PDP enrollees pay \$37.02 per month, on average, in 2015, whereas enrollees in MA-PD plans pay only \$17.29.The combined average for PDP and MA-PD plan enrollees is \$30.02 in 2015.

Premiums for some of the most popular plans increased in 2015, while for others, premiums fell.

• Humana's Walmart Rx PDP, which was new in 2014, raised its premiums by 24 percent (an average increase of about \$3 per month) in 2015. By contrast, the SilverScript Choice PDP lowered its premium by 21 percent (an average decrease of about \$6 per month) in 2015.

PDP premiums vary widely across plans and across regions.

• Premiums vary for plans with equivalent benefits, ranging from \$12.60 to \$101.40 per month for plans offering the basic Part D benefit.

• One source of variation is geographic differences. Average PDP premium for plans with the basic benefit are \$16.97 in New Mexico and \$36.90 in the Idaho/Utah region.

PART D BENEFIT DESIGN AND COST SHARING

In 2015, most plans use five cost-sharing tiers: preferred and non-preferred tiers for generic drugs, preferred and non-preferred tiers for brand drugs, and a tier for specialty drugs.

• The vast majority of all Part D enrollees (80 percent of PDP enrollees and 91 percent of MA-PD enrollees) are in plans that use five cost-sharing tiers, a design that gained popularity starting in 2012.

Cost sharing for brand-name drugs has been relatively stable in recent years, but has risen substantially since the start of Part D; MA-PD plan enrollees generally pay somewhat higher cost sharing than PDP enrollees.

- Cost sharing for brands increased between 2006 and 2015 by about 36 percent for beneficiaries enrolled in PDPs and by nearly 70 percent for those in MA-PD plans. In the same period, cost sharing for generics decreased.
- On average, MA-PD plan enrollees pay somewhat higher cost sharing for their drugs than PDP enrollees, particularly for brand-name drugs. For example, median cost sharing for preferred and non-preferred brands in MA-PD plans is \$45 and \$95, respectively, compared to \$38 and \$80 in PDPs.
- Copayments for brand-name drugs are higher than those typically charged by large employer plans, while copayments for generics are lower.
- In 2015, many PDP enrollees are in plans that charge coinsurance instead of copayments: 28 percent of enrollees face copayments for preferred brand drugs and 63 percent for non-preferred brand drugs.

Nearly all Part D plans use specialty tiers for high-cost drugs and charge coinsurance of 25 percent to 33 percent during the benefit's initial coverage period.

• Nearly half of all PDP enrollees and nearly three quarters of all MA-PD plan enrollees are in plans that charge the maximum 33 percent for these high-cost drugs.

The use of tiered pharmacy networks has grown rapidly in recent years and is now the norm in PDPs.

• The share of Part D stand-alone drug plans with tiered pharmacy networks grew from 7 percent in 2011 to 87 percent in 2015. Enrollees in these plans pay lower cost sharing if they use pharmacies offering preferred cost sharing and higher cost sharing if they use other pharmacies.

THE LOW-INCOME SUBSIDY PROGRAM

- About 11.7 million Part D enrollees (30 percent) receive extra help through the Part D Low-Income Subsidy (LIS), a majority of whom (8 million) are enrolled in stand-alone PDPs. The subsidy reduces cost sharing and pays their drug plan premiums, as long as they enroll in PDPs designated as benchmark plans.
- In 2015, 15 percent of LIS beneficiaries enrolled in PDPs (1.2 million) are paying monthly premiums, and of this group, three-fourths are paying \$10 or more per month. In addition, 381,000 LIS beneficiaries enrolled in MA-PD plans are paying premiums in 2015. CMS does not reassign these beneficiaries to a zero-premium PDP because they have actively selected the plan they are in.
- On average, LIS beneficiaries paying premiums for their PDPs pay \$18.90 per month, well above the average in previous years.

PART D PLAN PERFORMANCE RATINGS

Nearly half of PDP enrollees are in plans with the highest star ratings (4 stars or more).

• Part D plan ratings in 2015 are up considerably from 2014 levels. The share of PDP enrollees in plans with at least four stars out of a maximum five stars rose from 5 percent in 2014 to 48 percent in 2015.

DISCUSSION

Now in its tenth year of operation, the Part D program has experienced relative stability in recent years. The program has had consistently high levels of plan participation, offering dozens of plan choices for beneficiaries in each region and broad access to generic and brand-name drugs. While the Part D program has matured since 2006, the marketplace also changes every year. Plans can and do enter and drop out of the market annually, and enrollees can and do experience changes in premiums, cost sharing for their medications, which drugs are covered by their plan, and which pharmacies they can use without paying higher cost sharing.

Beneath the surface, there are trends that could pose cost and access challenges for Part D enrollees. At a time of heightened public concern about the cost of prescription drugs, median cost sharing for brand-name drugs has increased over the years and more plans impose coinsurance for brand tiers. Although premiums have been flat in recent years, the high cost of newly approved drugs and others in the pipeline could change that trend. In the absence of an absolute limit on out-of-pocket costs, Part D enrollees with high drug use could face growing out-of-pocket costs.

List of Exhibits

Introduction

Exhibit I.1: Standard Medicare Prescription Drug Benefit, 2015

Section 1: Part D Enrollment and Plan Availability

Exhibit 1.1: Medicare Part D Enrollment, by Type of Plan (Employer and Non-Employer PDP and MA-PD), 2006-2015 Exhibit 1.2: Share of Medicare Beneficiaries Enrolled in Medicare Part D Plans, by State, 2015 Exhibit 1.3: Share of Medicare Part D Enrollees in Stand-Alone PDPs, by State, 2015 Enrollment in Employer-Only Medicare Part D Plans, by Plan Type, 2006-2015 Exhibit 1.4: Exhibit 1.5: Distribution of Medicare Part D Enrollment, by Firm, 2015 Exhibit 1.6: Top 10 Firms Offering Medicare Part D Plans Ranked by 2015 Enrollment Exhibit 1.7: Distribution of Medicare Part D Enrollment, by Plan Type and Firm, 2006 and 2015 Exhibit 1.8: Enrollment in Medicare Stand-Alone PDPs offered by Major PDP Sponsors, 2006-2015 Top 10 Medicare Part D Plans Ranked by 2015 Enrollment Exhibit 1.9: Exhibit 1.10: Top 5 Medicare Part D Stand-Alone PDPs, Ranked by 2015 LIS Enrollment and Non-LIS Enrollment Exhibit 1.11: Average Number of Medicare Part D Plans Offered to Enrollees, 2006-2015 Exhibit 1.12: Number of Medicare Part D Stand-Alone PDPs, 2006-2015

Section 2: Part D Premiums

- Exhibit 2.1: Medicare Part D Weighted Average Monthly Premiums, by Plan Type, 2006-2015
- Exhibit 2.2: Examples of Medicare Part D Stand-Alone PDPs with Lowest and Highest Premiums, 2015
- Exhibit 2.3: Premiums for Medicare Part D Stand-Alone PDPs with Highest 2015 Enrollment
- Exhibit 2.4: Premiums for Medicare Part D Stand-Alone PDPs with Highest 2015 Enrollment, 2006-2015
- Exhibit 2.5: Weighted Average Premiums for Medicare Part D Basic Stand-Alone PDPs, by Region, 2015
- Exhibit 2.6: Minimum and Maximum Monthly Premiums for National and Near-National Basic Stand-Alone PDPs, 2015
- Exhibit 2.7: Minimum and Maximum Monthly Premiums for Medicare Part D Basic Stand-Alone PDPs, by Region, 2015
- Exhibit 2.8: Weighted Average Monthly Premiums for Stand-Alone PDPs, by Type of Plan and Benefit Package, 2015

Section 3: Part D Benefit Design and Cost Sharing

- Exhibit 3.1: Distribution of Enrollment in Medicare Part D Stand-Alone PDPs, By Deductible Amount, 2006-2015
- Exhibit 3.2: Share of Enrollment in Medicare Part D Stand-Alone PDPs, By Formulary Tier Design, 2006-2015
- Exhibit 3.3: Median Cost Sharing for Medicare Part D Plans, 2006-2015, and Employer-Sponsored Plans, 2015
- Exhibit 3.4: Median Cost Sharing for Generic and Brand-Name Drugs, by Plan Type, 2015
- Exhibit 3.5: Share of Enrollment in Medicare Part D Plans with Specialty Tiers, by Coinsurance Rate, 2006, 2010, 2014, 2015
- Exhibit 3.6: Number of Medicare Part D Stand-Alone PDPs using Tiered Pharmacy Networks, 2011-2015
- Exhibit 3.7: Distribution of Medicare Part D Plans, by Plan Type and Use of Tiered Pharmacy Networks, 2015
- Exhibit 3.8: Share of Covered Drugs with Utilization Management (UM) Restrictions Across All Medicare Part D Stand-Alone PDPs, 2007-2015

Exhibit 3.9: Distribution of Medicare Part D Plans and Enrollment, By Type of Plan and Level of Gap Coverage, 2015Exhibit 3.10: Weighted Average Monthly Premiums for Medicare Part D Stand-Alone PDPs, by Gap Coverage Level, 2015

Section 4: The Low-Income Subsidy Program

- Exhibit 4.1: Share of Medicare Part D Enrollees Receiving Low-Income Subsidies, by State, 2015
- Exhibit 4.2: Number of Medicare Part D Stand-Alone PDPs, by Benchmark Status, 2006-2015
- Exhibit 4.3: Distribution of Monthly Premiums for Low-Income Subsidy PDP Enrollees Paying Premiums, 2006-2015
- Exhibit 4.4: Weighted Average Monthly Premiums for Low-Income Subsidy PDP Enrollees Paying Premiums, 2006-2015
- Exhibit 4.5: Number of Low-Income Subsidy PDP Enrollees Paying Monthly Premiums, 2006-2015

Section 5: Part D Plan Performance Ratings

Exhibit 5.1: Distribution of Medicare Part D Plans and Enrollment, by Plan Type and Plan Star Ratings, 2015

Introduction

Since 2006, Medicare beneficiaries have had access to prescription drug coverage offered by private plans, either stand-alone prescription drug plans (PDPs) or Medicare Advantage prescription drug plans (MA-PD plans). These Medicare drug plans (also referred to as Part D plans) receive payments from the government to provide Medicare-subsidized drug coverage to enrolled beneficiaries. Part D plans are required to offer a

defined standard benefit or one that is equal in value **(Exhibit I.1)**. They may also offer an enhanced benefit. Medicare drug plans must meet defined requirements, but may vary in terms of premiums, benefit design, gap coverage, formularies, and utilization management rules.

In 2015, more than 39 million Medicare beneficiaries are enrolled in Medicare drug plans, including 24 million in PDPs and 15 million in MA-PD plans.^{1, 2} About 12 million Part D enrollees are receiving extra help through the Part D Low-Income Subsidy (LIS) program to pay their drug plan premiums and cost sharing. Part D has



evolved since its inception in 2006 due to changes in the private plan marketplace and the regulations that govern the program. The 2010 Affordable Care Act (ACA) is bringing significant improvements to the program, primarily phasing out the coverage gap, or "doughnut hole," in the drug benefit.³ In addition to a 50 percent manufacturer discount on the price of brand-name drugs in the gap, the law further reduces cost sharing for brand-name and generic drugs in the gap over time, reducing cost sharing to the level that applies before the gap and eliminating the coverage gap in 2020. In addition, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) has implemented other statutory and regulatory changes that have resulted in some consolidation of Part D plan offerings, along with a degree of greater standardization.

This report presents findings from an analysis of the Medicare Part D marketplace in 2015, the program's tenth year, and changes in various features of the drug benefit since 2006.⁴ It presents key findings in five different areas:

- Enrollment and plan availability;
- Premiums;
- The design of Part D benefits, including cost sharing, specialty tiers, formularies, utilization management, the coverage gap, and tiered pharmacy networks;
- The Low-Income Subsidy (LIS) program for low-income beneficiaries; and
- Plan performance ratings.

The findings are based on data from CMS for all plans participating in Part D. More detail about the methods used in this analysis is provided on page 53.

Findings

SECTION 1: PART D ENROLLMENT AND PLAN AVAILABILITY

BENEFICIARY PARTICIPATION IN PART D

More than 39 million Medicare beneficiaries are enrolled in a Part D plan, either a PDP or MA-PD in 2015, representing 72 percent of all eligible Medicare beneficiaries. This is an increase of nearly 2 million beneficiaries since 2014 and of nearly 17 million beneficiaries since 2006 when only 53 percent of eligible beneficiaries were enrolled in Part D plans (Exhibit 1.1). In 2006, a larger share of Medicare beneficiaries received drug coverage from other sources such as former employers, so that a total of 90 percent of beneficiaries had coverage for their drugs from some source.⁵ In 2012 (the most recent year for which data are available), 88 percent had drug coverage at least comparable to Part D coverage and 12 percent of Medicare beneficiaries had no drug coverage whatsoever.⁶

More than half of the ten-year increase comes from additional enrollment in MA-PD plans, which is likely a mix of enrollees new to Part D or to Medicare altogether and those who switched from traditional Medicare supplemented by PDP coverage to MA-PD plans.⁷ The rest of the increase is a mix of higher PDP enrollment and more enrollment in employer-only Part D plans. About two-thirds of the increase from 2014 to 2015 is from enrollment gains for MA-PD plans.

The 4.8 percent enrollment increase from 2014 to 2015 is lower than some earlier years. Growth was higher in 2007 and 2008 as the program ramped up and higher again in 2012 and 2013 as a result of increased enrollment of retirees in employer-only Part D plans. Over ten years, the average annual rate of increase is 6.4 percent.

The share of Medicare beneficiaries with Part D coverage varies by state, ranging from 38 percent (Alaska) to 77 percent (Michigan) (Exhibit 1.2). States with the highest shares of Part D enrollment are California, Michigan, New York, and Ohio, each with 75 percent of Medicare beneficiaries in Part D. Alaska, Maryland, Wyoming, and the District of Columbia have fewer than 60 percent of their residents on Medicare in Part D plans. Some of these states have high shares of federal employment; federal retirees get drug coverage outside Part D through the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program.

Nationally, about 61 percent of Part D enrollees are in PDPs; the remaining 39 percent are in MA-PD plans, with considerable variation by state (Exhibit 1.3, Appendix Table 1, Appendix Table 2). PDP enrollment accounted for 72 percent of total enrollment in 2006, but this share has been declining over time as MA-PD plan enrollment has grown more rapidly than PDP enrollment in recent years. From 2006 to 2015, non-employer MA-PD plan enrollment grew by 10.5 percent annually, whereas non-employer PDP enrollment grew by only 2.4 percent annually. The more rapid growth in MA-PD enrollment from 28 percent to 39 percent of Part D enrollees reflects the broader trend of greater enrollment in Medicare Advantage.

PDPs account for 100 percent of Part D enrollees in Alaska and more than 90 percent of enrollees in six other states with low populations (Delaware, New Hampshire, North Dakota, South Dakota, Vermont, and Wyoming). By contrast, MA-PD plans account for half or more of Part D enrollees in five states: Arizona, California, Florida, Hawaii, and Oregon.

Between 2011 and 2013, total enrollment in employer-only Part D plans doubled from 2.9 million to 5.9 million beneficiaries, rising more modestly to 6.6 million in 2015 (Exhibit 1.4, Appendix Table 2). Total enrollment in employer-only Part D plans in 2015 is more than four times the level in 2006. The biggest increase was between 2012 and 2013, when enrollment in these plans grew 63 percent. The growth rate slowed to less than 1 percent in 2015.

The major impetus for this growth was a provision in the ACA that eliminated the tax deductibility of the 28 percent Retiree Drug Subsidy (RDS), effective in 2013.⁸ This subsidy, paid to employers who provide creditable prescription drug coverage to Medicare beneficiaries, was included in the original Part D legislation to encourage employers to maintain existing drug coverage for their retirees. In 2006, 7.2 million Medicare beneficiaries were covered in retiree health plans that received the RDS (with an average subsidy payment of \$527 per person in 2006, rising to a projected \$625 in 2015). With the changed tax status of the RDS, enrollment in subsidized retiree plans dropped to 2.7 million in 2014, and the Medicare Trustees project a drop to 2.2 million in 2015 and 0.9 million by 2019.⁹

Most employers that no longer elected to receive the subsidy after the change in tax treatment have shifted their retirees to employer-only Part D plans. Most of the new enrollment was in employer-only PDPs. In 2013, enrollment was up 99 percent in employer-only PDPs and just 7 percent in employer-only MA-PD plans. In 2014 and 2015, as growth in employer plans slowed overall, there was a modest shift toward MA-PD plan enrollment.

CONTINUITY OF PART D PLAN OFFERINGS

About one-fifth of the PDPs that participated in Part D in its first year are still in the market today. There are 315 PDPs operating under the same contract and plan identification number in 2015 as in 2006. About one-fourth of these PDPs operate under the same plan name, while others have similar names. For example, what was originally the AARP MedicareRx Plan, sponsored by UnitedHealth, is now called AARP MedicareRx Preferred. Others have changed as a result of acquisitions; for example, five PDPs offered by Sterling in 2006 are now known as WellCare Simple PDPs. About one-fourth of these continuously operating PDPs have changed their benefit type; in most cases, PDPs originally offering the basic benefit now operate as enhanced benefit PDPs (a change in status no longer allowed by CMS).

These continuously operating PDPs accounted for about 44 percent of all PDP enrollees in 2006, and 55 percent of total enrollment in 2015. Most of the remaining PDP enrollees are in other plans offered by sponsors that have participated in Part D since 2006. Of the six plan sponsors that entered the Part D market after the program's first year, none have attracted a significant market share. The most successful new entrant has been Envision RxPlus, which held a 2.5 percent share of PDP enrollment in 2013, declining to 2 percent in 2015.

FIRM PARTICIPATION

In 2015, the ten largest sponsors of Part D plans account for more than three-fourths of all enrollees, three firms account for half of all enrollees, and UnitedHealth alone accounts for more than one in five Part D enrollees (including 21 percent of PDP enrollees and 20 percent of MA-PD plan enrollees) (Exhibit 1.5).¹⁰ This pattern of a few plan sponsors having a substantial share of Part D enrollment has held over the program's first ten years. The ten largest Part D plan sponsors in 2015 have enrolled 30.9 million beneficiaries in either a stand-alone PDP or an MA-PD plan (Exhibit 1.6).¹¹ The share of enrollment in the ten largest plans in 2015 (79 percent) is higher than in 2006 (69 percent). In 2006, the top three firms also accounted for about half of all enrollees. Four firms that were in the top ten for 2006 have been acquired during the intervening years: three by CVS Health and one by Aetna.

Patterns are similar for the PDP and MA-PD plan markets, viewed separately **(Exhibit 1.7)**. In the PDP market alone, the top three sponsors (UnitedHealth, CVS Health, and Humana) account for nearly 60 percent of enrollment in 2015—slightly more than the 54 percent share held by the top three sponsors (UnitedHealth, Humana, and Member Health) in 2006. Among MA-PD plans, UnitedHealth and Humana each have 20 percent of the market in 2015, followed by Kaiser Permanente, with 9 percent; these are the same three sponsors that held the most MA-PD market share in 2006.

The growth pattern among the largest PDP sponsors illustrates some of the different strategies used since the start of the program **(Exhibit 1.8)**. UnitedHealth has been the largest PDP sponsor since 2006, and Humana has generally been the second largest. CVS Health has used an acquisition strategy to move solidly into the third position. Aetna and Cigna have moved higher up in recent years, also through acquisitions. It is noteworthy that both acquiring firms in recently proposed mergers (Aetna and Anthem) lost enrollment in the PDP market from 2014 to 2015, whereas both firms to be acquired (Humana and Cigna) gained enrollment.

Seven of the top ten firms in 2015 sponsor both stand-alone PDPs and MA-PD plans. Kaiser Permanente is the only sponsor among the top ten that offers only MA-PD plans, and Anthem is the only other firm with more MA-PD enrollees than PDP enrollees. CVS Health and Express Scripts offer only PDPs. Other than Kaiser Permanente and Anthem, at least 60 percent of each of the top firms' enrollment is in PDPs.

Enrollment growth since 2006 for CVS Health, Express Scripts, Aetna, and Cigna is due largely to acquisitions of other plan sponsors. CVS Health has used an acquisitions strategy to become the third largest sponsor in the Part D marketplace. The parent company now includes 5 of the 18 firms that had the most enrollees in 2006. Cigna and Aetna have grown their Part D market shares through similar acquisitions strategies. Express Scripts has grown both through its recent acquisition of Medco, but also through the overall increase in enrollment in employer-only plans since the RDS tax status change. Four plan sponsors dominate the employer-only segment of the Part D market, collectively accounting for about two-thirds of all enrollees in employer-only Part D plans: Express Scripts (34 percent), CVS Health (16 percent), UnitedHealth (10 percent), and Kaiser Permanente (7 percent).

National plan sponsors have dominated the Part D PDP market from the start. Firms serving all or most regions hold 94 percent of the PDP market in 2015, up from 89 percent from 2006. Most other sponsors with plans in no more than a few regions are local Blue Cross Blue Shield (BCBS) plans. Among the PDPs serving no more than a few regions, the only non-Blue plan with a PDP market share of greater than 1 percent in a region is the WPS Insurance Company, a not-for-profit plan sponsor with 7 percent of the market in Wisconsin. BCBS plans with large market share in their regions are the coalition of BCBS plans in the seven-state upper Midwest region (23 percent), the Health Care Service Corporation affiliates in Illinois (21 percent) and Oklahoma (14 percent), Arkansas BCBS (14 percent), the coalition of BCBS plans in southern New England (11 percent), and Blue Cross Blue Shield of Kansas (10 percent). Five regions have no PDP sponsored by a BCBS plan.

UnitedHealth and Humana have been the two largest Part D plan sponsors from the start of the program, but their combined share of enrollment has dropped from 45 percent in 2006 to 39 percent in 2015. UnitedHealth, due in part to its successful marketing relationship with AARP, has

maintained its top position for all ten years of the program and has seen its enrollment grow by about 46 percent since 2006. Humana has maintained a strong Part D presence, due in part to offering the lowest PDP premiums in 2006 and retaining many of those enrollees over time despite premium increases for its older plans. While higher-than-average premium increases and a loss of LIS benchmark status in most regions contributed to a drop in Humana's Part D enrollment between 2006 and 2010, Humana's introduction of new lower-premium PDPs in 2011 and 2014 reversed this decline, contributing to a net enrollment gain of 62 percent in Humana's Part D plans between 2006 and 2015.

MARKET CONCENTRATION

At the national level, the Part D market among PDPs is not concentrated. As measured by the Herfindahl-Hirschman index, a statistical measure of market competition, the index value of 1,362 falls a little below the threshold for a concentrated market.¹²

Within regions, however, the Part D (at the firm level), is moderately concentrated with an average index value across regions of 1,896. Overall, 30 of 34 regions qualify as moderately concentrated, while 2 are highly concentrated and 2 are not concentrated. The two regions classified as highly concentrated are Florida and Nevada.

If non-LIS and LIS beneficiaries are treated as separate markets in each region, both are more concentrated at the firm level than at the level of overall enrollment. In 2015, the LIS population reaches the level considered moderately concentrated in 25 of 34 regions and highly concentrated in another 3 regions. Comparable numbers for the non-LIS population are 20 moderately concentrated regions and 14 highly concentrated regions. The non-LIS market is considerably more concentrated than the LIS market, probably because the process for assigning LIS beneficiaries to benchmark plans reduces concentration. The most concentrated regions among non-LIS beneficiaries are Alaska, Arizona, Florida, Hawaii, New Jersey, and New York.

Proposed plan acquisitions of Humana by Aetna and Cigna by Anthem would increase market share among two of the top ten Part D plan sponsors. Should the proposed acquisition of Humana by Aetna be approved by federal regulators, the combined firm will increase its market share from 18 percent to 24 percent and surpass UnitedHealth to become the largest sponsor of Part D plans (both for PDPs and MA-PD plans). The share of enrollment for the top three firms would increase from 50 percent to 56 percent. The share of the top three firms for PDP enrollment would increase from 58 percent to 64 percent.

By contrast, the MA-PD plan market is less concentrated at the national level, but much more concentrated at the local level.¹³ Only three firms in the MA-PD market, accounting for about half of MA-PD plan enrollment (excluding special needs plans), offer plans in at least half the states. The vast majority of MA-PD plan sponsors are local or regional, offering plans in just one or two states. These firms collectively account for about 30 percent of MA-PD enrollment.

MARKET SHARE AMONG PART D PLANS

There has been some turnover among the top Part D plans from 2014 to 2015, with one plan moving into the top ten PDPs or MA-PD plans by enrollment (Exhibit 1.9). Humana's Walmart Rx PDP, new in 2014, moved up to the fifth position, while Kaiser Permanente's Senior Advantage dropped from the ninth to the eleventh spot. In addition to Humana Walmart Rx PDP, four other top plans gained significant numbers of enrollees from 2014 to 2015: Cigna-HealthSpring Rx Secure PDP, SilverScript Choice PDP, AARP MedicareRx Saver Plus PDP, and Humana Gold Plus HMO. The first two of these gained enrollees through Medicare Part D at Ten Years: The 2015 Marketplace and Key Trends, 2006–2015 10 consolidations of other plans offered in 2014 by the same sponsor. Three of the top plans in 2015 (Humana's Preferred Rx PDP and Walmart Rx PDP and UnitedHealth's AARP MedicareRx Saver Plus PDP) are recent entries to the market, featuring low initial premiums and tiered pharmacy networks.

Only three of the top ten PDPs or MA-PDs by enrollment in 2015 were among the top ten in 2006. They are UnitedHealth's AARP MedicareRx Preferred PDP, Humana's Enhanced PDP, and CVS Health's SilverScript Choice PDP (renamed from SilverScript Basic in 2015) **(Exhibit 1.9)**. Within many plan sponsors' offerings, there have been significant changes in enrollment, partly due to sponsors adding, dropping, or consolidating plans. Six of the original top ten plans from 2006 exited the market due to consolidations by plan sponsors, some after being acquired by another sponsor.

Enrollment gains at the plan level between 2014 and 2015 were experienced by both plans raising premiums and plans with significant premium reductions. Two PDPs gaining large numbers of enrollees (Humana Walmart Rx PDP and UnitedHealth's AARP MedicareRx Saver Plus PDP) raised premiums by more than 20 percent, but still had relatively low premiums compared to the competition. In particular, the Humana Walmart Rx PDP, which was introduced in 2014 and had the lowest premium in most regions in 2015 despite a premium increase, nearly doubled its enrollment (95 percent) between April 2014 and April 2015 and became the fourth largest PDP in 2015. By contrast, Humana's more expensive plan (Humana Enhanced PDP) experienced a 8 percent loss in enrollment between 2014 and 2015, Over the program's first decade, Humana has refreshed its offerings by introducing new low-premium plans while raising premiums for its older plans. Two other PDPs with large enrollment gains from 2014 to 2015 had significant premium reductions (SilverScript Choice PDP and Cigna-HealthSpring Rx Secure-Xtra PDP). It is unclear whether the gains were beneficiaries new to Medicare, transfers from other PDPs offered by the same sponsor, or switchers from plans offered by other sponsors.

Low premiums were associated with enrollment growth at times other than the annual open enrollment period. Humana has been most successful in this regard, benefiting from its strategy of offering PDPs with low premiums to capture a large share of the market. The firm's Walmart Rx PDP enrolled 229,000 new members outside the annual enrollment period (February to December 2014) for a 35 percent increase in enrollment and another 164,000 new members (12 percent increase) between February and September 2015. Because most enrollees have no option to switch plans in these months, it is likely that most of these new enrollees are newly eligible Medicare beneficiaries opting for the least expensive plan. UnitedHealth's AARP MedicareRx Saver Plus PDP and the WellCare Classic PDP, also offering some of the lowest PDP premiums during 2014, picked up substantial numbers of enrollees during 2014 and the UnitedHealth plan had further gains during 2015.

Enrollment shifts among the top plans and plan sponsors also have been brought about by automatic reassignment of LIS beneficiaries. If a plan loses its designation as a benchmark plan (available to LIS beneficiaries for zero premium), CMS reassigns certain beneficiaries to a benchmark plan offered by the same sponsor if one is available; otherwise they are switched at random to a benchmark plan offered by another sponsor. In 2015, for example, Aetna and CVS Health each picked up nearly 90,000 enrollees through these types of reassignments. By contrast, three PDPs not designated as benchmark plans experienced disenrollment of LIS enrollees and thus had among the largest decreases in total enrollment from 2014 to 2015.

The most popular plans vary considerably by region. UnitedHealth and CVS Health each have the largest PDPs in nearly half of all regions in 2015.¹⁴ UnitedHealth's AARP MedicareRx Preferred PDP is the

largest PDP in 16 regions, and CVS Health's SilverScript Choice PDP is the largest in 14 regions. Humana Preferred Rx PDP holds the lead in Colorado and Nevada. Humana Walmart Rx PDP and Cigna-HealthSpring Secure PDP have the largest shares of enrollment in the Idaho/Utah region and Hawaii, respectively.

The most popular plans also differ for non-LIS and LIS beneficiaries. AARP MedicareRx Preferred PDP has enrolled 27 percent of all non-LIS beneficiaries nationally and has the most non-LIS enrollees in 29 of 34 PDP regions **(Exhibit 1.10)**. The next most popular non-LIS plan, Humana's Walmart Rx PDP, with 12 percent of non-LIS enrollees, has the most non-LIS enrollees in three regions, and local Blue Cross Blue Shield PDPs have the largest share of non-LIS enrollment in Arkansas and the upper Midwest region.

CVS Health's SilverScript Choice PDP dominates the LIS market with more than one-fourth of national LIS enrollment (28 percent) and the highest share of LIS enrollees in 25 PDP regions. PDPs sponsored by Humana, Cigna, and WellCare have the most LIS enrollees in the other 9 PDP regions. Unlike the situation in recent years, four of the five PDPs with the most LIS enrollees have an enrollee mix with at least one-third non-LIS enrollees.

PLAN AVAILABILITY

Choice remains plentiful in Part D; in 2015, the average Part D enrollee had a choice of 30 PDPs and 15 MA-PD plans. The average number of PDPs per region has come down from a high of 56 in 2007 and 35 in 2014 to 30 in 2015 (weighted by regional enrollment) **(Exhibit 1.11)**. At least 24 PDPs are offered in every region this year (excluding the territories). In 2015, virtually all beneficiaries have at least one Medicare Advantage option with drug coverage as well, and the average beneficiary has 15 options for Medicare Advantage drug plan enrollment, down from 26 in 2009 and up from 14 in 2014.¹⁵

The number of PDPs offered was down by 14 percent from 2014 to 2015. There are 1,001 PDPs in 2015, well below the number of PDPs offered between 2006 and 2010. While the number of PDPs rose sharply between 2006 and 2007, the number decreased each year since (other than 2014) as a result of both marketplace and policy factors (Exhibit 1.12). Over its first ten years, the Part D market has witnessed several mergers between sponsoring organizations and consolidation of plan offerings by sponsors. In 2010, CMS issued regulations aimed at discouraging duplicative plan offerings and plans with low enrollment. For example, many sponsors now offer just two plan options (one basic and one enhanced) instead of the three options they had offered in previous years.

The drop in PDP offerings from 2014 to 2015 reflects plan terminations and a few offsetting new offerings. The only near-national plan sponsor leaving Part D, HealthMarkets, had never attracted significant enrollment in its two years. Three plan sponsors with a small regional presence also terminated contracts. In addition, Anthem terminated its MedicareRx Rewards PDPs in 24 regions. These PDPs entered the program in 2006, but enrollment had fallen steadily in recent years. The largest number of terminations (168 PDPs) reflected plan consolidations by five national plan sponsors and two local plan sponsors. Some consolidations resulted from earlier mergers among sponsors, and others were in response to CMS guidance on duplicative plan offerings. Partially offsetting the plan terminations were 70 new plans, nearly all from three national or nearnational plan sponsors (EnvisionRx, Symphonix Health, and United American) with relatively few enrollees. There are two entirely new contracts offering one PDP in Colorado and two in Nevada. Together all the new plans attracted only 170,000 enrollees (about 1,000 enrollees for the new contracts). Over half (93,000) were in one new plan (sponsored by Blue Cross Blue Shield in the upper Midwest region); the rest averaged just over

1,000 enrollees per plan. Some enrollees in new PDPs appear to have shifted from others offered by the same sponsor.

Current CMS policies suggest that the number of PDPs might decline again in future years. In the call letter issued in early 2015 spelling out the terms of plan participation for the 2016 contract year, CMS reiterated the agency's authority not to renew plans with low enrollment.¹⁶ Currently, 257 PDPs (26 percent of all PDPs in 2015) have fewer than 1,000 enrollees, the level at which CMS urges sponsors to consider plan withdrawal or consolidation; 63 of these PDPs have fewer than 100 enrollees each.¹⁷ The low-enrollment PDPs include the Symphonix Premier Rx and Symphonix Rite Aid Premier Rx PDPs in 25 regions, which were offered for the first time in 2014.

In addition to its policy on low-enrollment plans, CMS continues to maintain a policy that PDPs offered by the same sponsor must be meaningfully different from the sponsor's other offerings. This policy encourages plan sponsors to reduce their PDP offerings, thereby simplifying the choice environment in Part D.

In 2015, 1,605 Medicare Advantage drug plans are offered, essentially the same number as the

year before. The number of MA-PD plans increased by about 50 percent between 2006 and 2009, from 1,333 plans to 1,991 plans.¹⁸ However, the availability of MA-PD plans has fallen since then; the 1,605 MA-PD plans offered in 2014 is about 19 percent lower than at the peak. The number of MA-PD plans available to the average Medicare Part D enrollee has remained nearly constant at 15 plans since 2011.











Exhibit 1.6 Top 10 Firms Offering Medicare Part D Plans Ranked by 2015 Enrollment

Name of firm			2015	2006		Change in			
	Rank	Enrollment (in millions)			% of Total Part D in	D evelo	% of Total Part D in	Total Enrollment	
		PDP	MA-PD	Total	2015	Rank	2006	2006-2015	
UnitedHealth Group	1	5.12	3.17	8.29	21.1%	1	25.3%	+46%	
Humana	2	4.30	2.78	7.07	18.0%	2	19.4%	+62%	
CVS Health	3	4.46		4.46	11.4%	11	1.8%	+980%	
Express Scripts	4	2.72		2.72	6.9%	10	1.8%	+556%	
Aetna	5	1.45	0.87	2.31	5.9%	12	1.8%	+465%	
CIGNA	6	1.47	0.49	1.96	5.0%	17	0.9%	+822%	
WellCare Health Plans	7	1.10	0.34	1.44	3.7%	4	4.3%	+47%	
Kaiser Permanente	8		1.28	1.28	3.3%	6	3.5%	+64%	
Anthem	9	0.33	0.58	0.92	2.3%	3	5.8%	-30%	
Health Care Svcs. Corp.	10	0.35	0.09	0.43	1.1%	15	1.4%	+40%	
TOTAL TOP 10 FIRMS		21.30	9.58	30.89	78.7%				
TOTAL PART D		23.97	15.28	39.25	100.0%				

NOTE: Includes plans in the territories and employer group plans. The 2006 enrollment share for Express Scripts is for Medco, which was acquired by Express Scripts in 2012. For other plans, the enrollment share does not include later acquisitions by the particular company. SOURCE: Georgetown/Kaiser Family Foundation analysis of CMS 2006-2015 Part D plan and enrollment files.

KAISER FAMILY





Name of Plan		2015	2014		
	Rank	Enrollment (in millions)	% of Total Part D in 2015	Rank	 Change 2014-2015
AARP MedicareRx Preferred PDP	1	3.57	9.1%	1	-4%
SilverScript Choice PDP	2	3.26	8.3%	2	+25%
Express Scripts Medicare PDP (Employer)	3	2.24	5.7%	3	+2%
Humana Preferred Rx PDP	4	1.72	4.4%	4	-2%
Humana Walmart Rx PDP	5	1.40	3.6%	12	+95%
AARP MedicareRx Saver Plus PDP	6	1.35	3.4%	6	+23%
Humana Gold Plus HMO	7	1.23	3.1%	7	+21%
Humana Enhanced PDP	8	1.17	3.0%	5	-8%
Cigna-HealthSpring Rx Secure PDP	9	0.99	2.5%	10	+31%
WellCare Classic PDP	10	0.92	2.3%	8	-11%

Exhibit 1.10

Top 5 Medicare Part D Stand-Alone PDPs, Ranked by 2015 LIS Enrollment and Non-LIS Enrollment

Prescription Drug Plan	Total LIS Enrollment	Share of All LIS Enrollees	Share LIS in Plan	Number of Regions Where PDP is Benchmark Plan
SilverScript Choice	2,197,000	27.7%	67.6%	32
Humana Preferred Rx Plan	1,092,000	13.8%	64.0%	34
Cigna-HealthSpring Rx Secure	865,000	10.9%	89.2%	23
AARP MedicareRx Saver Plus	746,000	9.4%	55.6%	33
WellCare Classic	562,000	7.1%	63.3%	21
TOTAL FOR TOP 5 LIS PDPs	5,461,000	69.0%		
Prescription Drug Plan	Total Non-LIS Enrollment	Share of All Non-LIS Enrollment	Share Non-LIS in Plan	Number of Regions Where PDP is Benchmark Plan
AARP MedicareRx Preferred	3,019,000	27.0%	85.5%	0
Humana Walmart Rx Plan	1,370,000	12.2%	97.3%	0
SilverScript Choice	1,052,000	9.4%	32.4%	32
Humana Enhanced	1,024,000	9.2%	88.3%	0
		5.5%	36.0%	34
Humana Preferred Rx Plan	613,000	5.5%	30.078	54

NOTE: PDP is prescription drug plan. LIS is low-income subsidy. Excludes employer group plans and plans in the territories. SOURCE: Georgetown/Kaiser Family Foundation analysis of CMS 2015 Part D plan and enrollment files.

KAISER FAMILY





SECTION 2: PART D PREMIUMS

NATIONAL PREMIUM TRENDS

Since 2006, the average PDP premium, weighted by enrollment, has increased by 43 percent, but the 2015 average is 2 percent lower than in 2014 and 4 percent lower than at the peak in 2013. The weighted average monthly premium paid by beneficiaries for stand-alone Part D coverage has increased since the start of the program, from \$25.93 in 2006 to \$37.02 in 2015 (Exhibit 2.1).^{19,20} Premiums have been essentially flat since 2010, down slightly from 2010 to 2015. A key factor driving slow premium growth in recent years is the availability of generic versions of many drugs used for common chronic conditions, which helps to limit growth in total plan costs and hence premiums.²¹

The average monthly Part D premium, including both PDPs and MA-PDs, has increased from around \$23 per month in 2006 to \$30 per month in 2015, but has been essentially flat since 2010 (Exhibit 2.1).

Average monthly MA-PD plan premium are lower than average premiums for PDPs, but have been increasing since 2011 (compared to the flat premium trend for PDPs). The average 2015 monthly premium amount attributable to drug benefits in MA-PD plans is \$17.29, up 18 percent from \$14.70 in 2014 and up 30 percent from \$13.30 in 2013. MA-PD premiums on average are higher in 2015 than in any year since the program began.²²

At the same time, the MA-PD average monthly premium is about \$20 below the PDP average monthly premium, because many MA-PD plans use a portion of rebates from the Medicare Advantage payment system to reduce or eliminate their premiums. In 2015, CMS calculated that the average MA-PD premium prior to rebates was about \$3 per month lower than those for PDPs (a smaller differential than in previous years); thus, the average plan applied a rebate amount of about \$17 to lower the premium in 2015.²³ The increase in the MA-PD premium from 2013 to 2015 may reflect changes in the Medicare Advantage payment rules, which may have lowered these rebates. Nearly half (42 percent) of all MA-PD plans, with 52 percent of MA-PD enrollees, charge no premium for their drug benefit.

PDP premiums vary widely. Nationwide, the least expensive PDP has a \$12.60 monthly premium, while the most expensive PDP has a \$171.90 premium, a 14-fold difference. Although the difference can be explained partly by the relative generosity of the benefits offered or the relative efficiency across plans, these factors seem unlikely to explain the full difference. Even among plans with equivalent benefits (those offering the basic Part D benefit), premiums vary from \$12.60 to \$101.40 per month. As illustrated in the lowest and highest-premium PDPs in the Florida region, benefit differences are modest relative to the large premium differences **(Exhibit 2.2)**. Although enrollees in the highest-premium enhanced plan have some coverage in the gap and no deductible and flat cost sharing for brand drugs, they face higher cost sharing for generic and specialty drugs than the lowest-premium enhanced PDP in Florida. Those enrolled in the highest-premium basic PDP have a higher deductible than those in the lowest-premium basic PDP and are subject to coinsurance for brand drugs.

PLAN-LEVEL PREMIUM TRENDS

Seven of the eight PDPs with the highest enrollment charged higher average premiums in 2015 compared to 2014, whereas one lowered its average premium. More generally, the modest decrease in the average premium for all Part D enrollees hides larger changes at the plan level (Exhibit 2.3). For

example, the plan with the highest enrollment, UnitedHealth's AARP MedicareRx Preferred PDP, increased the monthly premium by 16 percent compared to 2014 (from \$43.43 to \$50.19). All three plans sponsored by Humana raised premiums by 11 percent or more. By contrast, the Silverscript Choice PDP, offered by CVS Health, lowered its average premium by 21 percent (from \$29.47 to \$23.13).

Some older, established plans have raised premiums more rapidly than the national average, while newer plans tend to set premiums low in order to build enrollment but may raise them rapidly in subsequent years. As a result, beneficiaries who stay in the same plan tend to pay more over time, as earlier research finds relatively few enrollees switch plans voluntarily in a given year.²⁴ Established plans tend to retain enrollees as they age, when they typically use more drugs, whereas newer plans attract younger enrollees who are likely to have lower drug use and also more likely to shop based on premiums when they first enter the market. Premiums for some new plans have increased rapidly within a year or two of entering the market. For some plan sponsors, this strategy may be a conscious attempt to attract younger enrollees in newer, less expensive plans while still retaining their existing enrollees in older, more expensive plans.

Most plans that have been in the program since 2006 have increased premiums by more than the national average. Overall, of 315 PDPs that have operated under the same contract and plan numbers from 2006 to 2015 (despite some corporate acquisitions and name changes), about 40 percent have monthly premiums in 2015 that are at least double the premium in 2006, and two-thirds have raised premiums over this period by more than the national average increase. For example, the average monthly premium for Humana's Enhanced PDP in 2015 is more than 3.5 times its 2006 average (\$52.86 versus \$14.73) (Exhibit 2.4). Over the same period, the premium for UnitedHealth's AARP Medicare Rx Preferred PDP nearly doubled (\$50.19 versus \$26.31). By contrast, one-fourth of these continuously operating PDPs have a lower premium in 2015 than in 2006. Silverscript Choice PDP had a 18-percent lower premium in 2015 compared to 2006 (\$23.15 versus \$28.32).

Some of the program's newer plans have experienced large percentage premium increases. The average premium for Humana's Preferred Rx PDP is higher by 79 percent (\$14.80 to \$26.42) in four years after entering the program. UnitedHealth's AARP MedicareRx Saver Plus PDP has experienced a net 87-percent premium increase (\$15.00 to \$28.09) in three years.

Overall, enrollment increased (by 13 percent) in plans that lowered premiums, while enrollment was generally flat (down by 1 percent) in plans that raised premiums. PDPs that lowered premiums by at least 20 percent had an average enrollment gain of 34 percent. By contrast, PDPs that raised premiums by at least 30 percent experienced a 15 percent average drop in enrollment. Patterns were not consistent, however, as PDPs that raised premiums 20 percent to 30 percent gained enrollment, and those that lowered premiums up to 10 percent lost enrollment. Some of the enrollment gain came from random assignment of LIS enrollees, but enrollment by non-LIS beneficiaries was considerably higher as well. Our analysis of plan switching from 2006 to 2010 found that 87 percent of beneficiaries in any particular annual enrollment period did not change plans.²⁵ But generally consistent with patterns in 2015, those whose premiums were increasing by \$10 or more were more likely to change to plans with lower premiums; 21 percent of those with a \$10 to \$20 premium increase and 28 percent of those with a premium increase of \$20 or more changed plans. **As with PDPs, average premiums vary considerably by MA-PD plan sponsor.** Plans offered by UnitedHealth, with 20 percent of the MA-PD market, have a weighted average premium of \$11.44 for the drug benefit (in addition to a Part C premium of \$5.02 that covers the medical benefits normally provided by traditional Medicare). The other leader in this market segment is Humana, also with 20 percent of MA-PD enrollees, which has a modestly higher average premium of \$14.37 (plus \$17.94 for Part C). The next two largest MA-PD sponsors are Kaiser Permanente, with a 9 percent market share and a \$4.79 average premium (plus \$35.85 for Part C), and Aetna, with a 6 percent market share and a \$7.13 average premium (plus \$16.62 for Part C).²⁶

GEOGRAPHIC VARIATIONS IN PREMIUMS

Average premiums are considerably higher in certain regions than in others in 2015. Beneficiaries enrolled in a basic PDP pay an average of \$36.89 in the Idaho/Utah, more than double the average (\$16.97) in New Mexico (Exhibit 2.6).²⁷ Regional differences in premiums have generally persisted from year to year and continued to grow wider in 2015. New Mexico and Arizona have been among the regions with the lowest average premiums since the program began, while the Idaho/Utah region has been among the most expensive regions.

At the same time, some regions have seen significant changes in their average PDP premiums relative to other regions. The average PDP premium in New York, for example, was below the national average from 2006 to 2010, and then increased to be above average each year since then. Regional differences in the average PDP premium were smaller in the program's first two years, before plan sponsors could look at actual claims experience for guidance in setting premium levels.

Although persistent regional differences in premiums are driven in part by underlying regional differences in drug utilization, further explanations are not readily apparent. Plan risk scores, averaged by region for 2013 (the most recent year available) are correlated modestly (r=0.24) with that year's average premium for basic PDPs, providing some support for the notion that utilization is a factor. In 2013, there was also a modest correlation (r=0.33) between the number of basic PDPs in each region with the average premium for those PDPs, counter to the notion that more competing plans leads to lower plan bids. In 2015, however, number of plans was not correlated with premiums, but was modestly correlated (r=-0.25) with a measure of concentration; regions that were more concentrated had lower premiums—again running counter to expectations. More research is needed to understand the patterns of geographic variation in Part D premiums.

Geographic differences in premiums are greater for some plan sponsors than others; some sponsors charge as much as three times more for the identical basic PDP from one region to another. Twelve plan sponsors offer a basic PDP in at least 30 of the 34 PDP regions. For seven of these national or near-national PDPs, premiums for the identical plan design are at least two times greater in one region than in another (Exhibit 2.6). The largest absolute premium difference is for the Cigna-HealthSpring PDP, which charges beneficiaries \$20.50 in Arizona and \$83.30 in Florida for the same coverage—a difference of \$62.80 (a wider difference than in 2014). By contrast, the Humana Preferred Rx PDP has a difference of only \$13.30 between its lowest and highest regions (\$20.20 in New Mexico and \$33.50 in New York), but that difference is also wider than in 2014. For six of these national or near-national PDPs, the highest premiums are in states (Florida, Missouri) where premiums overall are below the national average.

Within each region, some plan sponsors charge several times more than competing sponsors for their basic PDPs (Exhibit 2.7). In the region that includes Delaware, Maryland, and Washington, DC, the highest premium for a basic PDP is \$34.30 for United American's Select PDP, which is only one-third higher than the \$25.30 premium for Aetna's Medicare Rx Saver PDP. This region had the largest range of premiums in 2014, but several of the high-premium plans exited the market including the BlueRx Standard PDP with a 2014 premium of \$111.40. The largest premium range among basic PDPs is in Florida, where the Express Scripts Medicare-Value PDP charges \$91.40, seven times the lowest premium in its region (\$17.60 for Aetna Medicare Rx Saver PDP). By law, all basic PDPs provide a benefit with the same actuarial value. Different utilization patterns by plan enrollees (adverse selection, beyond what can be compensated for by the risk-adjustment system used by CMS) may be a key factor driving the larger premium differences.

PREMIUM VARIATIONS BY PLAN TYPE

Beneficiaries selecting PDPs with an enhanced benefit package pay higher premiums on average for their Part D coverage, even for the part attributable to the basic benefit package. The weighted average monthly premium for PDPs with enhanced benefits is \$47.81, compared to \$28.28 for PDPs offering the basic benefit package **(Exhibit 2.8)**. Thus, enrollees pay nearly 70 percent more to get enhanced benefits.

Plan sponsors mostly add value in their enhanced plans by lowering deductibles and sometimes adding coverage in the gap. Most enhanced plans lower or eliminate plan deductibles; 71 percent of enhanced PDPs have no deductible, compared to 7 percent of basic PDPs (the share of enhanced PDPs without a deductible is down from 89 percent in 2014). If eliminating the deductible were the only difference, beneficiaries would be paying an additional premium of \$19.53 per month (\$47.81 versus \$28.28) or \$234 annually to eliminate a \$320 deductible. Some enhanced plans also expand the coverage of drugs during the coverage gap beyond the amount included in the basic benefit (48 percent of enhanced PDPs). Plans also may use lower cost sharing as part of an enhanced benefit, but as shown in the section below on cost sharing, enhanced PDPs on average charged higher cost sharing in 2015.

Starting with PDPs offered in 2011, CMS has required sponsors to ensure that benefits in enhanced PDPs are meaningfully different than the basic benefits and have a measurable added value. This policy has led to a larger spread between premiums for basic PDPs and enhanced PDPs than in previous years. In 2015, an enhanced PDP must have cost-sharing differences that result in at least \$20 lower monthly out-of-pocket costs than the corresponding basic PDP—an amount that is essentially offset by the \$19.53 average monthly premium difference between basic plans and enhanced PDPs.

Some PDP sponsors offer two enhanced plans, a less generous first option and a more generous second option; average monthly premiums for the more generous enhanced PDPs offered by these sponsors are much higher than the first option's premium (\$65.15 versus \$28.78). As part of its policy on meaningful differences, CMS allows sponsors to offer a second enhanced PDP only if expected out-of-pocket cost sharing amounts are lower (by \$25 per month) than for the first enhanced PDP and the second enhanced PDP has coverage for at least some brand-name drugs in the coverage gap. The \$36 difference in premiums exceeds the required difference in out-of-pocket costs.

Although higher premiums partly reflect the cost of offering enhanced benefits, the portion of the premium that corresponds to the basic benefit (\$38.60 on average for enhanced PDPs) is

higher than the premium for basic PDPs (\$28.28) (Exhibit 2.8). For some sponsors, the difference is much greater. Risk selection may be a factor in these higher premiums, although in 2013 enrollees in enhanced PDPs actually had lower risk scores (0.94) than those in basic PDPs (1.05), mostly attributable to enrollees in the less generous enhanced PDPs. But it may be that the enhanced plans have attracted beneficiaries with higher drug needs beyond differences captured by risk adjustment. Furthermore, even though program rules seem to disallow it, plan sponsors may cross-subsidize some of the supplemental portion of bids for enhanced plans with the basic component in order to maximize the government subsidy.²⁸

Some plan sponsors offer enhanced PDPs that have the minimum level of enhanced coverage required by the meaningful difference tests and are offered at low premiums with the apparent goal of attracting beneficiaries with low expected drug costs. In 2015, for example, one of Humana's enhanced PDPs (Walmart Rx) is offered at an average premium of \$15.67 per month, whereas its basic PDP (Preferred Rx) is \$26.42. For several other plan sponsors, the portion of the premium attributable to a plan's basic benefits (thus excluding the value of any enhanced benefit) is lower for their enhanced PDPs compared to their basic PDPs. A key reason for lower premiums in these enhanced plans is favorable risk selection that occurs because they are attractive to non-LIS beneficiaries who are using few drugs and because there are relatively few LIS beneficiaries enrolled in enhanced plans. In 2013, the average risk score for enrollees in the less generous enhanced PDPs was 0.93, compared to 1.04 in the more generous enhanced PDPs.





Exhibit 2.3 Premiums for Medicare Part D Stand-Alone PDPs with Highest 2015 Enrollment

Name of PDP (year first offered)	2015 Enrol (of 19.2 m		Weighted Average Monthly Premium ¹			% Change	
	Number (millions)	% of Total	First year	2014	2015	2014- 2015	First year 2015
AARP MedicareRx Preferred (2006)	3,557,000	18.5%	\$26.31	\$43.43	\$50.19	+16%	+91%
SilverScript Choice (2006)	3,259,000	16.9%	\$28.32	\$29.47	\$23.15	-21%	-18%
Humana Preferred Rx (2011)	1,714,000	8.9%	\$14.80	\$22.75	\$26.42	+16%	+799
Humana Walmart Rx (2014)	1,402,000	7.3%		\$12.60	\$15.67	+24%	
AARP MedicareRx Saver Plus (2013)	1,350,000	7.0%	\$15.00	\$23.08	\$28.09	+22%	+879
Humana Enhanced (2006)	1,166,000	6.1%	\$14.73	\$47.57	\$52.86	+11%	+259
Cigna-HealthSpring Rx Secure (2006)	987,000	5.1%	\$35.05	\$30.75	\$30.94	+1%	-12%
WellCare Classic (2007)	919,000	4.8%	\$15.80	\$20.64	\$31.09	+51%	+97%
TOTAL	19,236,000	100%	\$25.93	\$37.75	\$37.02	-2%	+43%



Medicare Part D at Ten Years: The 2015 Marketplace and Key Trends, 2006-2015









SECTION 3: PART D BENEFIT DESIGN AND COST SHARING PLAN BENEFIT DESIGN

Most Part D plans do not offer the defined standard benefit (with a \$320 deductible in 2015 and 25 percent coinsurance); all PDPs and most MA-PD plans have a tiered cost-sharing structure with incentives for enrollees to use less expensive generic and preferred brand-name drugs. For the first time in 2015, no PDPs offer the defined standard benefit without formulary tiers. Among MA-PD plans, 2 percent offer the defined standard benefit with 1 percent of enrollment.²⁹

A majority of Part D enrollees are in enhanced plans. In 2015, 53 percent of all Part D enrollees are in enhanced plans, designed to offer some benefits beyond the basic benefits defined in law. Nearly half (45 percent) of PDP enrollees and 72 percent of MA-PD enrollees are in enhanced plans.

Use of a deductible by stand-alone PDPs is considerably higher in 2015 than in the first few years of the program. About 58 percent of PDPs charge a deductible this year, compared to a high of 60 percent in 2010. Most PDPs with a deductible use the standard deductible allowed by law (\$320 in 2015). Nearly half of PDP enrollees are in plans with no deductible (48 percent of enrollees), compared to 56 percent of PDP enrollees in 2006 (Exhibit 3.1). A smaller number of MA-PD plans (37 percent) than PDPs have a deductible in 2015, but use of a deductible is up substantially from 2014 (14 percent). More than half of the MA-PD plans with a deductible set the level lower than the maximum of \$320. Overall, 51 percent of all Part D enrollees are enrolled in plans with no deductible, and 33 percent are in plans with the maximum deductible. In contrast to Part D, only a small share of workers with employer sponsored drug coverage (12 percent) face a separate drug deductible, averaging \$231 in 2015.³⁰

In 2015, the vast majority of all Part D enrollees (80 percent of PDP enrollees and 91 percent of MA-PD plan enrollees) are in plans that use five cost-sharing tiers: preferred and nonpreferred tiers for generic drugs, preferred and non-preferred tiers for brand drugs, and a tier for high-cost specialty drugs (see section below, 'Specialty Tiers') (Exhibit 3.2). Overall, 84 percent of the combined enrollment in PDPs and MA-PDs are in plans with five tiers. In 2015, 90 percent of PDPs and 87 percent of MA-PD plans used five-tier designs. Most of the other Part D enrollees are in plans with four tiers: one generic tier, two brand tiers, and a specialty tier.³¹ By contrast, enrollees in 2006 were in PDPs with a greater variety of tier structures, including significant numbers in plans with three-tier and four-tier arrangements. Four-tier arrangements were most common until 2012 when plans began shifting toward the five-tier cost-sharing design.

Part D plans use more cost-sharing tiers than private-sector employer plans. Whereas all PDP enrollees and nearly all MA-PD enrollees are in plans with four or more tiers, only 23 percent of covered workers in employer-sponsored plans are in plans with that many tiers, while 13 percent are in plans with two tiers or no tiered cost sharing.³² The trend among employer plans has been to use more tiers, and some have gone to five tiers, but this design is used much less often than in Part D.

PART D COST-SHARING AMOUNTS

While cost sharing has been relatively stable in recent years, the median cost sharing for a 30day supply of non-preferred brand-name drugs in stand-alone PDPs has increased by 45 percent since 2006, from \$55 to \$80, while cost sharing for preferred brand drugs increased by 36 percent, from \$28 to \$38 (Exhibit 3.3). Median cost sharing in PDPs for both brand tiers was modestly lower in 2015 compared to 2014. Cost-sharing amounts for brand-name drugs vary widely across Part D plans in 2015, as they have in previous years. For preferred brand tiers, PDPs charge copayments as low as \$19 and as high as \$45. About 80 percent of spending on brand drugs for Part D enrollees was for drugs on preferred brand tiers,³³ so these are the cost-sharing levels encountered most often. For non-preferred brand tiers, copayments range from \$35 to \$95. These ranges are less than in some previous years because of CMS guidance that sets maximum allowable copayment levels.

Median cost sharing for preferred generic drugs in PDPs (or for generic drugs among plans with a single generic tier) is \$1 in 2015, lower than in any year since the program began. As a result of lower generic copays, the spread between brand and generic tiers widened modestly from 2011 to 2015. For PDPs with two generic tiers (most PDPs and PDP enrollment), the median cost sharing is \$1 for the preferred generic tier and \$4 for the non-preferred tier. These copay amounts are lower than in any previous year; in fact, the copay for non-preferred generics is lower than the copay for the single generic tier as recently as 2011. By contrast, however, one PDP charges a \$28 copayment for its non-preferred generic tier in 2015, well above any other PDP.

Despite the trend to higher cost sharing, beneficiaries' average total out-of-pocket costs have not increased. According to MedPAC, for the average Part D enrollee not receiving the LIS, monthly out-of-pocket spending declined from \$59 to \$47 from 2007 to 2012 (the most recent year available).³⁴ The impact of partially closing the coverage gap and more use of generic drugs has generally balanced the impact of higher cost sharing for brands.

In 2015, median cost-sharing amounts are generally higher in MA-PD plans than in PDPs in all tiers. For example, the median cost sharing for preferred brands in MA-PD plans is \$7 more than the median in PDPs (\$45 versus \$38) and \$2 more for preferred generic drugs (\$3 versus \$1) (Exhibit 3.4). The comparisons for UnitedHealth, the sponsor with largest share of both PDP and MA-PD enrollment, illustrate the pattern. For preferred and non-preferred generic drugs, UnitedHealth's median cost sharing, weighted by enrollment, is \$2 and \$5 in its PDPs and \$2 and \$8 in its MA-PD plans, respectively. The differences for brand drugs for UnitedHealth's plans mirror the national differences. It is unclear why cost sharing is higher for MA-PD plans, especially since more of them offer enhanced benefits. Further work is needed to assess variations in copayments by Part D plan type, including for example, the extent to which these differences persist across all plan sponsors and within different geographic areas. Another question is whether there are differences in tier placement of specific drugs and whether some plans cover more drugs than others on specific tiers that may be factors in explaining differences in cost-sharing amounts between types of Part D plans.

Combined across PDPs and MA-PD plans in 2015, median cost-sharing amounts for generic drugs (weighted by enrollment) are \$2 for preferred generics and \$6 for non-preferred generics. For brand drugs, median copayments are \$40 and \$90 for preferred and non-preferred brands.

Copayments in the form of a flat dollar payment amount remain the most common type of cost sharing; however, the share of PDPs using percentage-based coinsurance for non-specialty brand-name drug tiers has increased since 2006. In 2015, 68 percent of PDPs with a tier for non-preferred brand drugs charge a coinsurance rate for drugs on that tier, a large jump from 37 percent in 2014. Nearly two-thirds (63 percent) of PDP enrollees are in plans with coinsurance for this tier. Of these plans, nearly all have a mixed pricing design. Typically they use a flat copayment for their generic drug tiers, and many also use a flat copayment for preferred brand drugs; 27 percent of PDPs (28 percent of enrollees) use Medicare Part D at Ten Years: The 2015 Marketplace and Key Trends, 2006–2015 30

coinsurance for preferred brand tiers, about the same as in 2014. The use of percentage coinsurance for drugs remains uncommon among MA-PD plans (13 percent for the non-preferred brand tier). In 2006, only a small share of PDPs with tiered cost sharing used coinsurance for their brand tiers (12 percent of enrollees for preferred brands and 14 percent of enrollees for non-preferred brands), but in addition nearly one-fourth of PDP enrollees were in standard plans with 25-percent coinsurance. Overall, 43 percent and 18 percent of Part D enrollees have coinsurance for non-preferred brands and preferred brands, respectively.

For plans that use percentage coinsurance instead of dollar copayments, the actual amount an enrollee pays depends on the retail price of the drug. The median coinsurance percentage for PDPs in 2015 for the preferred brand tier is 20 percent. For a brand-name drug with a typical cost of \$250, the coinsurance would be \$50, more than the median copay amount. For drugs on the non-preferred brand tier, the median coinsurance rate is 40 percent, a substantial share of the drug's cost and more than the median copay for this tier. In fact, 132 PDPs (up from 29 in 2014) require beneficiaries to pay half the cost of drugs on the non-preferred brand tier, the maximum allowed under CMS guidance.

Cost sharing is generally higher in enhanced PDPs than in basic PDPs. Analysis of enhanced PDPs in earlier years sometimes revealed only small benefit differences compared to the same sponsor's basic PDPs.³⁵ In 2015, cost sharing in each tier is generally higher for enhanced PDPs than in basic PDPs. For generic drugs, median cost-sharing amounts (weighted by enrollment) are \$3 and \$5 (preferred and non-preferred tiers) for enrollees in enhanced PDPs, compared to \$1 and \$4 for those in basic PDPs. For brand drugs, they are \$40 and \$80 (preferred and non-preferred) versus \$35 and \$60. Enrollees in enhanced PDPs generally have no deductible, which may constitute the added actuarial value that characterizes enhanced plans. As noted in Section 2, average monthly premiums are about \$20 higher for enhanced PDPs, raising questions about the value of these plans for Part D enrollees.

Medicare Part D plans generally charge more than private-sector employer plans do for preferred and non-preferred brand drugs, but less for generics. At the median, PDPs charge \$38 per month for a preferred brand in 2015, higher than the median \$30 charged by employer plans in 2015, **(Exhibit 3.3)**.³⁶ Cost-sharing differences are even greater for non-preferred brands (\$80 for PDPs versus \$50 for employer plans). On the other hand, only about one-fourth of workers are in employer plans that use coinsurance for brand tiers. Employer plans charge much higher copays for generic drugs than PDPs charge (\$10 versus \$1). Thus the spreads between cost sharing for brands and generics and between preferred and non-preferred brand drugs are greater in Medicare Part D plans. Compared to commercial health plans, the typical structure of cost sharing in Part D offers a greater incentive for plan enrollees to choose generics or preferred brand drugs. Furthermore, employer plans are much less likely to use two generic tiers.

Part D enrollees in some plans have the potential for savings if they obtain prescriptions by mail order; in other plans cost sharing is lower at retail pharmacies. Only 40 percent of PDPs (with about half of PDP enrollees) discount the cost sharing for a 90-day supply of a preferred brand drug obtained by mail order versus the same 90-day supply at retail. Among these PDPs, cost sharing is typically about 10 percent lower. About one-tenth of PDP (4 percent of enrollees) actually charge more; in most cases the cost sharing is equivalent to that charged for pharmacies not offering preferred cost sharing (see section on tiered pharmacy networks). Part D allows plans to offer mail order, but requires a level playing field in that at least one retail pharmacy must be able to dispense prescriptions with 90-day supplies. According to a recent study, mail order represented about 8 percent of prescriptions for 300 top drugs dispensed in Part D in 2010 and about 14 percent of spending on those drugs. The study found that Part D plan sponsors do not achieve savings when patients use mail order, because total mail order pharmacies may charge more for drug than retail pharmacies in Part D.³⁷

About one-fifth of Part D PDP enrollees are in plans that offer discounted cost sharing for a 90day supply at retail pharmacies. In 2015, 11 percent of PDPs with 19 percent of PDP enrollees have discounted cost sharing for a 90-day supply of a drug on a preferred brand tier. Most PDPs offering this discount charge the equivalent of 2.5 monthly copays for a 90-day supply, amounting to about a 17 percent discount. A handful of PDPs charge two monthly copays. All other PDPs have no discount for a 90-day supply.

SPECIALTY TIERS

Nearly all Part D plans use a specialty tier for high-cost medications in 2015. In 2015, all PDP enrollees and 99 percent of MA-PD plan enrollees are in plans with a specialty tier. Across the two enrollee populations, 99.5 percent are in plans with a specialty tier. Specialty tiers are used by Medicare drug plans for relatively expensive drugs (at least \$600 per month in 2015—a threshold that has been unchanged since 2008).

Use of specialty drugs has increased rapidly in recent years (46 percent in 2014 and 15 percent in 2013), driven by growth in the average unit cost, rather than utilization.³⁸ The introduction of new drugs to treat hepatitis C was a large driver of the increase in 2014. Although the trend is up, specialty drugs represented only 16 percent of Part D drug spending in 2014, up from 11 percent in 2014.³⁹ Only 2 percent of Part D enrollees used a specialty drug in 2014.

About half of PDP enrollees and most MA-PD plan enrollees are in plans with a 33 percent coinsurance rate for specialty tier drugs. While CMS limits the coinsurance rate for drugs placed on a specialty tier to 25 percent, plans are allowed to impose higher cost sharing (up to 33 percent) for specialty tier drugs if offset by a lower deductible.⁴⁰ In 2015, 48 percent of PDP enrollees with a specialty tier and 73 percent of MA-PD plan enrollees in a plan with a specialty tier are in plans charging the maximum 33 percent coinsurance for specialty drugs in the initial coverage period **(Exhibit 3.5)**. By contrast, in 2006 only 13 percent of beneficiaries in PDPs and 25 percent of enrollees in MA-PD plans with specialty tiers faced a 33 percent coinsurance rate. Overall, 57 percent of PDP and MA-PD plan enrollees are liable for 33 percent coinsurance for specialty tier drugs in 2015—up from 16 percent in 2006.

Placing a drug on the specialty tier or on a non-preferred brand tier with high coinsurance can have significant cost implications for plan enrollees, at least before they reach the catastrophic coverage phase of the Part D benefit. A specialty drug priced at the \$600 threshold will cost the beneficiary between \$150 and \$200 per month during the initial coverage period prior to the coverage gap. But monthly cost sharing for other common specialty drugs, such as Copaxone (for multiple sclerosis), Enbrel (for rheumatoid arthritis), Gleevec (for certain cancers), and Truvada (for HIV) can range from \$300 to \$2,000, before a beneficiary reaches the coverage gap or qualifies for catastrophic coverage. The cost for the first month of Sovaldi, a newly approved drug for hepatitis C, can exceed \$5,000.⁴¹ For beneficiaries who exceed the catastrophic coverage threshold, the cost sharing is lowered to 5 percent of the drug cost for the remainder of the year.

TIERED PHARMACY NETWORKS

In 2015, 87 percent of all PDPs—representing 81 percent of all enrollees—have a tiered pharmacy network. By contrast, only 7 percent of PDPs (6 percent of enrollees) had a tiered

pharmacy network in 2011 (Exhibit 3.6). Enrollees in these plans pay lower cost sharing for their prescriptions if they use pharmacies that offer preferred cost sharing.⁴² This approach to plan design started in 2011 with the market entry of co-branded PDPs featuring relationships with specific pharmacy chains, such as the Humana Walmart-Preferred Rx PDP (new in 2011) and the Aetna CVS/Pharmacy PDP (new in 2012). Many other plan sponsors designated a tiered network in 2013 or 2014, mostly without a co-branded relationship. The idea behind these arrangements is that Part D plans are able to negotiate discounted prices at certain pharmacies in exchange for higher volume of sales. The lower cost sharing creates an incentive for enrollees to use the designated pharmacies. CMS guidelines allow plans to assume use of preferred cost sharing in calculating whether cost sharing is actuarially equivalent to the defined standard benefit.

Tiered pharmacy networks have been employed much less often in Medicare Advantage. In 2015, only 27 percent of MA-PD plans (21 percent of enrollees) used tiered pharmacy networks **(Exhibit 3.7)**. This lower rate may seem surprising given that Medicare Advantage plans generally limit networks for other types of providers. The faster adoption of this approach among PDPs compared to MA-PD plans may reflect the efforts of PDP sponsors to match practices of their competitors who were early adopters of this change.

Proportionally, the discounts in cost sharing for filling a monthly prescription in a pharmacy using preferred cost sharing is greater for generic drugs. The median discount (weighted by enrollment) is \$3 for preferred generics and \$5 for non-preferred generics, which represents a discount of more than half for these tiers. For brand drugs, the differential is much more modest in percentage terms but greater in dollars. The discount is \$5 for the preferred tier and \$10 for the non-preferred tier (5 percentage points and 13 percentage points, respectively, for plans that use coinsurance instead of copays). There are no differentials for the specialty tier.

For example, in the AARP MedicareRx Saver Plus PDP sponsored by UnitedHealth, the copayment for a preferred brand drug is \$20 in a designated pharmacy and \$45 in another network pharmacy (\$35 versus \$60 for other brand drugs). Copayments in the Humana Walmart Rx PDP at a designated pharmacy are \$1 for drugs on the preferred generic tier and \$4 for drugs on the non-preferred generic tier, compared to \$10 and \$33, respectively, at other network pharmacies. Coinsurance differences for this Humana PDP are 20 percent versus 25 percent for a preferred brand drug and 35 percent versus 50 percent for a non-preferred brand drug.

Although the difference in cost for filling a single prescription is modest, the financial consequences for non-LIS Part D plan enrollees if they do not use pharmacies offering preferred cost sharing can add up for beneficiaries taking multiple brand-name drugs.⁴³ An enrollee in the AARP MedicareRx Saver Plus PDP who fills two brand drugs and one generic drug per month might pay an extra \$624 over the year if she does not use one of the designated pharmacies; an enrollee in Humana Walmart Rx PDP might pay an extra \$228.

In 2014 (the most recent available data), PDPs with tiered pharmacy networks designated only about 24 percent of their network pharmacies as offering preferred cost sharing.⁴⁴ But the size of the preferred cost sharing networks varied enormously from 1 percent to 99 percent of plans' overall networks. Overall, access to pharmacies is high. Most PDPs contract with at least 95 percent of all available pharmacies in their full pharmacy network.⁴⁵ But generally plan sponsors do not offer the preferred terms to all pharmacies in their networks.
Limited information is available on the share of plan enrollees who fill prescriptions at pharmacies offering preferred cost sharing. A CMS analysis of 2012 claims data found that the share of retail claims in pharmacies offering preferred cost sharing ranged from 19 percent to 79 percent across 13 plans. For 7 of the 13 plans, the share of claims in pharmacies offering preferred cost sharing preferred cost sharing was 37 percent or less.⁴⁶

For some PDPs, access to pharmacies with preferred cost sharing is limited. For some plans, there are few or no designated pharmacies within a reasonable travel distance.⁴⁷ Medicare law requires that retail pharmacy networks as an entirety meet standards whereby certain shares of beneficiaries must have access to a network pharmacy close to their residence, with separate tests for urban, suburban, and rural areas.⁴⁸ For example, 90 percent of beneficiaries in urban areas must have a network pharmacy within two miles of their home (90 percent within 5 miles for suburban areas and 70 percent within 15 miles in rural areas). CMS ensures that all plans meet these standards for their full pharmacy networks. But CMS found that 46 percent of PDPs or MA-PD plans would have failed if the test was applied just to the pharmacies offering preferred cost sharing.⁴⁹ Plans were more likely to fail in urban area, whereas most plans would have met the standard in suburban and rural areas. If the urban access standard were widened from two miles to 4.5 miles, 90 percent of plans would have met the standard.

Plans sponsored by Humana illustrate the trend. In 2014, Humana's PDPs on average designated only 10 percent of their network pharmacies as preferred, a lower rate than other national plan sponsors.⁵⁰ Because Humana's PDPs rely solely on Walmart pharmacies, access is lacking in urban areas where Walmart has no market presence.

In the call letter issued in April 2015, CMS indicated that it will monitor pharmacy networks and encourage plans to take action if they have too little meaningful access to the pharmacies that offer preferred cost sharing.⁵¹ Effective in 2016, the Medicare program intends to improve transparency by publishing information on plans' access levels for the designated pharmacies. The agency will also require a sponsor to disclose in marketing materials if its network is an outlier on access standards. But the agency has not established specific access standards for tiered pharmacy networks offering preferred cost sharing, beyond the statutory standards that already apply to the overall networks.

FORMULARIES AND UTILIZATION MANAGEMENT

In 2015, the average PDP enrollee is in a plan where the formulary lists 83 percent of all eligible drugs, the same as in 2013 and 2014 but slightly below the average in prior years. The scope of formulary coverage, however, continues to vary widely across PDPs in 2015. Some plans list all drugs from the CMS drug reference file on their formularies, while other PDPs list as few as 66 percent of these drugs.⁵² Even the most limited formularies, however, exceed the formulary coverage from 74 percent to 89 percent of drugs in the reference file.⁵⁴ The average MA-PD plan enrollee is in a plan with slightly more drugs on formulary (87 percent) than PDPs. Beneficiaries retain the option of requesting an exception to have the plan cover an off-formulary drug, or they can obtain the drug by paying the full purchase price out of pocket.

Since 2007, PDPs have applied utilization management (UM) restrictions to an increasing share of on-formulary drugs, increasing from 18 percent in 2007 to 39 percent in 2015 (Exhibit 3.8). Even if a drug is listed on a plan's formulary, utilization management rules, including step therapy, prior authorization, and quality limits, may restrict a beneficiary's access to the drug.⁵⁵ In 2015, more drugs are

subject to prior authorization than to other UM tools. On average across all PDPs (weighted for enrollment), prior authorization is applied to 23 percent of formulary drugs, about three times the use in 2007. Quantity limits (e.g., limiting a prescription to 30 pills for 30 days) are applied to 18 percent of drugs in 2015, whereas only 1 percent of drugs are subject to step therapy. MA-PD plans tend to apply UM restrictions to about the same share of drugs as PDPs.

THE COVERAGE GAP

In 2015, most PDPs (74 percent) offer no gap coverage beyond what is required by law; PDPs offering extra gap coverage cost more and have attracted fewer enrollees (Exhibit 3.9). In 2015, beneficiaries reaching the gap pay 45 percent of the full price for brand-name drugs in the gap (after a manufacturer price discount of 50 percent; plans pay the remaining 5 percent), and 65 percent of the cost for generics (plans pay the remaining 35 percent). Under current law, beneficiaries will face average cost sharing of only 25 percent for all drugs in the gap by 2020—the same as in the initial coverage period—effectively eliminating the coverage gap.

Plans offering gap coverage typically cover only a subset of drugs when enrollees are in the coverage gap. In past years, CMS has differentiated gap coverage by shares of drugs covered in the gap (few, some, many, or all). The agency terminated these descriptions starting in 2015 on the basis that they are no longer relevant as a result of phasing out of the coverage gap. In our analysis for past years, we classified plans labeled by CMS as covering few brands or few generics (defined as less than 10 percent of drugs in a particular category) as having "little or no coverage." Because those distinctions are no longer available, some plans labeled as having gap coverage may have additional coverage for only a minimal share of drugs.

In 2015, 90 percent of all PDP enrollees are in plans without additional gap coverage beyond what is required by law (Exhibit 3.9). Overall, however, only 49 percent of PDP enrollees are potentially exposed to the gap in coverage if their spending exceeds the initial coverage limit. This lower percentage reflects the fact that LIS enrollees pay the same modest cost-sharing amounts in the gap as in the initial coverage period. In 2015, the vast majority of non-LIS Part D enrollees (84 percent) are enrolled in PDPs with no gap coverage beyond what is required by the ACA.

A larger share of MA-PD plans (44 percent) than PDPs (26 percent) offer additional gap coverage in 2015, and a much larger share of MA-PD plan enrollees than PDP enrollees are in such plans. Nearly half (45 percent) of MA-PD plan enrollees have at least some additional gap coverage beyond what the ACA requires, well above the 10 percent for PDP enrollees (Exhibit 3.9). The higher level of additional gap coverage among enrollees in MA-PD plans occurs largely because Medicare Advantage plans are able to use payments received from the government for providing benefits covered under Parts A and B to reduce cost sharing and premiums under Part D.⁵⁶ Furthermore, because Medicare Advantage plans cover hospital and physician services and other Medicare benefits, they have stronger incentives than PDPs to offer at least some gap coverage to forestall the negative health and cost consequences that could arise if enrollees do not take their medications when they reach the gap. Despite these incentives, a majority of MA-PD plans offer no additional gap coverage. Overall, 77 percent of enrollees in PDPs or MA-PD plans are in plans with no gap coverage.

In earlier years, most Part D enrollees with gap coverage (beyond that required by law) were in plans that covered only some generic drugs in the gap. For example, in 2014, only about 3 percent of

PDP enrollees and less than 1 percent of MA-PD plan enrollees had any significant gap coverage for brandname drugs beyond the coverage that all plans must provide. Furthermore, most plans with gap coverage for generics included only a share of all generic drugs in that coverage. Although CMS no longer provides this breakdown, it is likely that the generosity of gap coverage beyond with the ACA requires plans to offer remains limited.

Enrollees in stand-alone Part D plans tend to pay substantially higher premiums for plans with gap coverage (beyond that which is required by law) compared to those without such coverage. On average, the weighted monthly premium for a stand-alone PDP offering additional gap coverage for at least some drugs is \$71.00, about \$38 per month above that for plans offering no gap coverage, despite the limited added coverage provided by these plans (Exhibit 3.10).





Exhibit 3.3 Median Cost Sharing for Medicare Part D Plans, 2006-2015, and **Employer-Sponsored Plans, 2015**

Formulary Tier	Part D Plan Type	Part D Cost Sharing									Employe Plans	
		2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2015
Preferred generic*	PDP	\$5	\$5	\$5	\$7	\$7	\$7	\$3	\$2	\$2	\$1	¢10
	MA-PD	\$5	\$5	\$5	\$5	\$6	\$6	\$3	\$3	\$4	\$3	\$10
Non- preferred generic*	PDP	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$8	\$5	\$5	\$4	n/a
	MA-PD	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$10	\$10	\$10	\$4	
Preferred brand	PDP	\$28	\$28	\$30	\$37	\$42	\$42	\$41	\$40	\$40	\$38	\$30
	MA-PD	\$26.70	\$29	\$30	\$30	\$39	\$40	\$42	\$45	\$45	\$45	
Non- preferred brand	PDP	\$55	\$60	\$71.50	\$74.75	\$76.50	\$78	\$92	\$85	\$85	\$80	\$50
	MA-PD	\$55	\$60	\$60	\$60	\$79	\$80	\$84	\$90	\$95	\$95	
Specialty	PDP	25%	30%	30%	33%	30%	30%	29%	26%	25%	29%	25%
	MA-PD	25%	25%	25%	33%	33%	33%	33%	33%	33%	33%	25%
NOTE: PDP is p year. *Prior to applicable for SOURCE: Geor Kaiser/HRET E	2012, mos amounts fo getown/Ka	t Part D pla r 2006-201 iser Family	ns only h 1, and th Foundati	ad one gen e single ge on analysis	eric tier, th neric tier a	erefore the mount is sh	e preferre Iown und	ed/non-pr ler preferr	eferred des ed generic.	signation is	not	THE HENR KAISE FAMI















SECTION 4: THE LOW-INCOME SUBSIDY PROGRAM

LOW-INCOME SUBSIDY PLAN AVAILABILITY

In 2015, 11.7 million Part D enrollees (30 percent of all Part D enrollees) were receiving the Low-Income Subsidy (LIS).⁵⁷ To qualify for the subsidy, individuals must have incomes below 150 percent of the federal poverty level and modest assets or must qualify for Medicaid, Supplemental Security Income, or the Medicare Savings Programs. At the end of 2013, 88 percent of LIS beneficiaries were deemed automatically eligible for the LIS based on being enrolled in both Medicare and Medicaid or receiving benefits from Supplemental Security Income as well as Medicare.⁵⁸ This share deemed eligible has been relatively constant since 2006. The other LIS beneficiaries qualified through applying and meeting the program's income and asset standards.

The overall share of Part D enrollees who receive the LIS is down from 41 percent in 2006. In part this reflects the shift into Part D by those who previously obtained drug coverage from former employers; few with retiree coverage qualify for the LIS. But in 2015 LIS enrollees represent 36 percent of Part D enrollees who are not in employer-only plans, and that share is down from 44 percent in 2015.

The share of LIS enrollees out of all Part D varies considerably by state (Exhibit 4.1). In several of the more rural western and midwestern states, fewer than 25 percent of Part D enrollees receive LIS subsidies. By contrast, over 40 percent of Part D enrollees are receiving the LIS in Alaska, the District of Columbia, Maine, and Mississippi. There is concern that many low-income beneficiaries are not receiving LIS, either because their assets exceed the limit, they are unaware of this benefit, or they had difficulty with the application.⁵⁹

About two-thirds of LIS enrollees are enrolled in PDPs, and the remainder are in MA-PD plans.

Of the 11.7 million LIS beneficiaries, 8.0 million are enrolled in PDPs and 3.7 million are in MA-PD plans. About half of the latter group (48 percent) are in traditional MA-PD plans, a small number (8 percent) are in Medicare-Medicaid plans (MMPs) participating in the financial alignment initiative (known as dual demo plans) or national PACE plans (1 percent) and the rest (43 percent) are in special needs plans (SNPs), a type of Medicare Advantage plan that limits membership to beneficiaries with specific diseases or characteristics. The most common type of SNP is restricted to dual eligibles.

Fewer "benchmark" plans—those available to beneficiaries receiving Part D Low-Income Subsidies for no monthly premium—are available in 2015 than in any previous year, although they represent a somewhat higher percentage of all PDPs than in 2008 to 2010. The total number of benchmark plans for LIS enrollees nationwide is 283 in 2015, a decrease of 69 PDPs (20 percent) from the number of plans in 2014 (Exhibit 4.2). Several policies in place since 2011, including the "de minimis" policy that allows plans to waive a premium amount of up to \$2 in order to retain their LIS enrollees, has kept the share of benchmark plans above the share of PDPs in 2009 and 2010, when that policy was not in effect. The number of LIS benchmark plans varies by region, ranging from 4 in Florida and Nevada to 12 in the Alabama/Tennessee, Arizona, and Idaho/Utah regions.

The benchmark plan market remains volatile, however. The benchmark plan market has changed considerably over the program's eight years, which has generated significant instability for low-income enrollees. Of the 409 benchmark plans offered in 2006, only 9 plans have qualified as benchmark plans in every year since then. For a number of other plans, mergers interrupted continuous benchmark status, but the

acquiring plan sponsor had a benchmark plan into which enrollees were transferred.⁶⁰ Of the 352 benchmark plans available to LIS recipients for zero premium at the start of 2014, 78 lost benchmark status or exited the program in 2015, considerably more than the 46 that lost benchmark status between 2013 and 2014.⁶¹

Compared to recent years, benchmark plans are less dominated by LIS beneficiaries. In 2015, 70 percent of the enrollees in benchmark plans were LIS beneficiaries. In 2014, LIS enrollees represented 74 percent of all enrollees in benchmark plans, down from the peak of 84 percent in 2009 and 2010. By contrast, LIS beneficiaries represented only 25 percent of enrollees in basic-benefit plans that did not qualify as benchmark plans and 11 percent of enrollees in enhanced plans in 2015.

As of the open enrollment period for the 2015 plan year (October 15 to December 7, 2014), one of every five LIS beneficiaries (1.8 million) were enrolled in benchmark PDPs in 2014 that failed to qualify as benchmark plans in 2015. To address this issue in part, CMS randomly reassigned about 386,000 PDP beneficiaries to PDPs operated by different sponsors for the 2015 benefit year (another 39,000 shifted to other PDPs operated by the same sponsors).⁶²

Most of the other LIS enrollees were not eligible for automatic reassignment by CMS because at some point they had switched plans on their own. The vast majority of LIS beneficiaries in this situation do not select new plans. Our analysis of plan switching by LIS beneficiaries found that only 14 percent of those in a non-benchmark plan and not eligible for reassignment by CMS elected to switch plans for 2010 (22 percent for 2009).⁶³ Those who do switch nearly always elect a zero-premium plan, but most stay with their plan, despite the need to pay a premium.

PREMIUMS FOR LOW-INCOME SUBSIDY ENROLLEES

About 1.2 million LIS beneficiaries (15 percent of all LIS enrollees in PDPs) remain in nonbenchmark PDPs in 2015 and are paying premiums for Part D coverage this year, a modest decrease from 2014 (Exhibit 4.3). The average monthly premium paid by these enrollees is \$18.90—a 6 percent increase from 2014 but a 60 percent increase from 2013 (Exhibit 4.4). This amounts to over \$225 annually in premium payments for beneficiaries whose incomes generally cannot exceed 135 percent of the federal poverty level. For beneficiaries not in benchmark plans, the federal government still pays the maximum subsidy amount for the beneficiary's region of residence, as well as subsidies that lower cost sharing. But the government does not pay any amount above the benchmark, nor does it pay any portion of the premium that corresponds to enhanced benefits—even if the total Part D premium is below the benchmark.

The proportion of LIS beneficiaries in PDPs paying premiums rose from 6 percent in 2006 to 26 percent in 2009, declined to 13 percent in 2011, and was up to 15 percent in 2015 **(Exhibit 4.3)**. Nearly half of the LIS beneficiaries paying premiums in 2015 are enrolled in the MedicareRx Preferred PDP offered by UnitedHealth, which lost benchmark status in all regions several years ago. Depending on the region, these 512,000 UnitedHealth enrollees are paying from \$7.20 to \$32.20 per month.

In addition to the LIS enrollees who pay premiums for their PDPs, another 381,000 LIS beneficiaries enrolled in MA-PD plans or SNPs pay a Part D premium. They represent 10 percent of all LIS beneficiaries enrolled in any type of MA-PD plan (21 percent of those in regular MA-PD plans). Altogether, 1.5 million beneficiaries or 13 percent of LIS beneficiaries in PDPs or MA-PD plans are paying a premium in 2015.

The de minimis premium waiver policy that allows 54 additional plans to qualify as benchmark PDPs in 2015 helps many LIS enrollees avoid disruption. Without the de minimis premium waiver, about 0.7 million LIS beneficiaries in these PDPs would either pay a small premium or would have been reassigned to different PDPs to avoid a premium.

About 849,000 LIS beneficiaries in PDPs are paying monthly premiums of \$10 or more in 2015, representing nearly three-fourths of the 1.2 million LIS beneficiaries enrolled in PDPs who pay any premium (Exhibit 4.5). Another 159,000 LIS beneficiaries in MA-PD plans or SNPs also pay premiums of \$10 or more in 2015. Thus, a total of 1.0 million LIS beneficiaries are paying at least \$10 monthly. It is possible that the LIS enrollees who pay a premium to enroll in these plans do so because of formulary or other individual considerations; another possibility, however, is that these enrollees are not reevaluating their plan options each year, even when it could save them money. It may be that they do not know that there are zero-premium plans available to them or have been unable to navigate the process of switching plans to avoid paying a premium.











SECTION 5: PART D PLAN PERFORMANCE RATINGS

Nearly half (48 percent) of all PDP enrollees are in plans with ratings of four stars or higher, and most of the rest (45 percent) are in plans with average ratings (3 and 3.5 of 5 stars). But about 7 percent are in plans with low ratings (fewer than 3 stars) (Exhibit 5.1). A higher share of MA-PD plan enrollees (65 percent) are in plans that are rated four stars or higher for the drug plan rating measures (Medicare Advantage plans also have star ratings based on Part A and Part B services).

CMS has reported performance ratings for Part D plans since the fall of 2006 and has used a five-star scale since the fall of 2008.⁶⁴ In 2015, the Part D ratings are based on 13 measures in 4 categories. Over time, CMS has moved toward more use of outcome and patient experience measures (such as medication adherence for statins or diabetes medications), rather than process measures (such as call center performance). For 2015, the agency dropped two measures (call center foreign language interpreter and TTY availability, beneficiary access and performance problems), but did not add any new measures. In contrast to the ratings for Medicare Advantage plans, however, CMS does not use quality ratings for Part D plans to determine bonus payments to these plans. Nor does CMS use ratings when making plan assignments for LIS beneficiaries.

Overall Part D plan ratings in 2015 are up considerably from 2014. The degree to which differences reflect changing performance by the PDPs or modifications of the rating measures used by CMS is unclear. In 2015, the share of enrollees in plans with 4 or more stars rose from 5 percent to 48 percent. Plans offered by the two firms with the most enrollees (Humana and UnitedHealth) gained a half star to shift from 3.5 to 4.0. About 91 percent of PDPs have ratings of 3.5 stars or higher in 2015, compared to 50 percent of PDPs in 2014 and 39 percent of PDPs in 2013. Plans offered by CVS Health gained two stars as they emerged from CMS-imposed sanctions, and plans offered by Aetna, Cigna, and WellCare each gained a half star, moving from 3.0 to 3.5 stars. About 89 percent of MA-PD plans have drug plan ratings of 3.5 stars or higher in 2015, nearly the same share as PDPs.⁶⁵ But more MA-PD plans have the highest ratings; about 24 percent have 4.5 or 5.0 stars, compared to just 3 percent of PDPs.

Based on the pattern of enrollment by plan ratings, there is little evidence to suggest that beneficiaries use ratings to guide their enrollment decisions. In 2015, the share of PDP enrollees in plans with relatively high ratings (3.5 stars or more)—92 percent—is nearly identical to the share of PDPs (91 percent) with those ratings **(Exhibit 5.1)**. However, an analysis of plan switching between 2009 and 2010 shows that enrollees in plans with at least 4 stars were actually more likely to switch than those in lower rated plans (16 percent versus 10 percent). The analysis also shows that those who did switch plans were only slightly more likely to end up in a higher-rated plan (29 percent versus 20 percent).⁶⁶ In focus groups, most seniors on Medicare said they were not aware of the star ratings. Overall, they thought ratings could be helpful, but thought they were unlikely to be a major factor in their plan choice.⁶⁷ More research is needed to determine the role of performance ratings on individual beneficiary choices.

Under current CMS policy, plans with ratings of less than 3 stars for three years in a row are subject to a special "low performance" flag on the Medicare Plan Finder website and may have their contracts terminated. In 2015, no PDPs and only 14 MA-PD plans have this designation, with a total of about 80,000 enrollees. Anthem had received this designation for the past two years for its MedicareRx Rewards Standard and Plus PDPs (about 48,000 enrollees in 24 regions), but the firm terminated these plans at the end of 2014.

Starting in 2012, beneficiaries have been eligible at any time outside the regular open enrollment period to switch from their current drug plan to a PDP with a 5-star rating (or a MA-PD plan with an overall 5-star rating). The only firms offering PDPs with 5-star ratings in 2015 actually had fewer enrollees in 2015 than in 2014 (289,000 versus 296,000). Among MA-PD plans, 102 plans with about 1.2 million enrollees earned five stars. They include 21 Kaiser Permanente plans with about half of the enrollees and a variety of other plans sponsored by different firms. Information is not available on how many people have used this special enrollment period, but aggregate monthly enrollment numbers suggest that most Part D enrollees have not acted on this option.



Conclusion

Medicare Part D plans are an important source of prescription drug coverage for more than 39 million Medicare beneficiaries in 2015, the program's tenth year. Participation in the program has grown more in recent years than in the first few years of the program, due to both increased enrollment of retirees in employer-only Part D plans and enrollment growth in Medicare as the baby boomers started reaching Medicare eligibility age in 2011.

Growth in average monthly Part D premiums has essentially flattened since 2010 after rising about 10 percent annually before then. Rising use of generic drugs, triggered by patent expirations for many popular brand-name drugs, has been a major factor in slowing premium growth—paralleling slower prescription drug spending growth in the broader health system.⁶⁸ The result has been savings for both the government and Part D plan enrollees. Overall Part D spending rose more rapidly in 2014, driven especially by new hepatitis C drugs, and the Medicare trustees project higher drug spending growth in the future as the rate of patent expirations slows and as other new drugs enter the market at prices far beyond those for older brand-name drugs.⁶⁹

Plan premiums vary substantially across regions and across different plans offered in each region. Beneficiaries in the region with the highest premiums pay monthly premiums that are twice as high, on average, as those in the region with the lowest premiums. And even within a region, among PDPs offering benefit packages having the same value, beneficiaries can pay as much as seven times as much in monthly premiums for one PDP compared to another. Despite these wide variations and large year-to-year increases for some of the program's most popular plans, most enrollees remain in the same plan from one year to the next. In fact, seven of ten enrollees never changed plans across four annual enrollment periods from 2006 to 2010.⁷⁰

At a time of heightened public concern about the cost of prescription drugs,⁷¹ enrollees have continued to face higher cost sharing for brand-name drugs. At the same time, cost sharing is lower for generic drugs, thus increasing incentives to select generics.⁷² A growing number of PDPs are switching from flat copayments to percentage-based coinsurance for brand-name drugs, and nearly all plans use coinsurance for specialty drugs. Furthermore, the share of PDP enrollees in plans that charge the maximum coinsurance for specialty drugs (33 percent) increased from 13 percent to 48 percent between 2006 and 2015. Many beneficiaries who use these expensive drugs will pay much lower coinsurance (5 percent) when they reach the catastrophic benefit phase than in the initial coverage period. But Part D has no absolute limit on out-of-pocket spending, and high initial cost sharing can deter enrollees from starting treatment with a new medication, meaning they never reach the out-of-pocket spending threshold that qualifies them for catastrophic coverage.

The Low-Income Subsidy (LIS) program continues to represent a significant source of savings for qualifying beneficiaries. But the extent of annual changes in the PDP offerings available without a premium to LIS beneficiaries remains a concern. CMS assigned nearly 400,000 LIS beneficiaries to new plans in 2015, thus protecting their full LIS benefits but potentially resulting in disruptions in coverage. Nevertheless, about 1.5 million LIS enrollees in PDPs or MA-PD plans are paying monthly premiums for Part D coverage when they could be in zero-premium drug plans, including one million LIS beneficiaries paying premiums of at least \$10 per month in 2015.

A major trend in recent years, starting in 2011, is the use of tiered pharmacy networks that offer lower cost sharing in a select set of pharmacies and higher cost sharing elsewhere. As of 2015, 81 percent of PDP enrollees are in these plans. Some of these enrollees may find that no pharmacy offering preferred cost sharing is located

near their homes. CMS is now monitoring pharmacy networks and encourages plans to make changes if access to pharmacies offering preferred cost sharing is inadequate.

The Part D program has undergone various modifications in recent years. Part D enrollees have benefited from lower out-of-pocket costs on both brand-name and generic drugs in the gap because of changes specified in the 2010 Affordable Care Act. Ongoing efforts by CMS to streamline the program have led to a smaller and better-defined set of plan options for Part D enrollees. CMS has also strengthened the plan performance rating system, though there is little evidence that ratings play a significant role in plan selection. Ratings are up in 2015, with nearly half of PDP enrollees and nearly two-thirds of MA-PD plans enrollees in plans with at least 4 stars (out of 5).

One key measure of success of the Part D program is that it has increased the availability of prescription drugs among Medicare beneficiaries at a lower out-of-pocket cost than in the absence of drug coverage. This increased access has occurred as Part D program spending has come in considerably below the government's original expectations. The Part D marketplace remains dynamic, however, with mergers continuing to reshape the market and changes affecting plan availability for Low-Income Subsidy beneficiaries.

Methodology

This report presents an analysis of the Medicare Part D 2015 marketplace, prepared by Jack Hoadley (Health Policy Institute, Georgetown University), and Juliette Cubanski and Tricia Neuman (Kaiser Family Foundation). Elizabeth Hargrave and Laura Summer have been part of analytic team in past years; their contributions are reflected in this report. In addition, Anthony Damico provided data analysis on the average number of MA plans per beneficiary and the share of LIS beneficiaries with deemed status.

Data on plan availability and premiums were collected primarily from a set of files published by CMS on a regular basis:

- Plan "landscape" files, released each fall prior to the annual enrollment period. These files include basic plan characteristics, such as plan names, premiums, deductibles, gap coverage, and benchmark plan status.
- Plan premium files, also released each fall. These files include more detail on plan characteristics, including premiums charged to LIS beneficiaries, the portions of the premiums allocated to the basic and enhanced benefits, and the separate drug premiums for MA-PD plans.
- Plan crosswalk files, also released each fall. These files identify which plans are matched up when a plan sponsor changes its plan offerings from one year to the next.
- Enrollment files, released on a monthly basis. These files include total enrollment by plan. We use April 2015 enrollments for enrollment-based analysis in this report. Enrollment files suppress totals for plans with 10 or fewer enrollees. We impute a value of 5 enrollees for these plans.
- LIS enrollment files, released each spring (in April for 2015). These files include total enrollment counts for LIS enrollees. There are small differences, probably due to different dates and underlying files, between total enrollments in the LIS enrollment files and those in the general enrollment files.
- Plan finder files, released each fall. These files, which supply information for the Plan Finder, contain costsharing amounts at the tier level, as well as tier labels.
- County-level enrollment files, released on a monthly basis. These files are used to create total counts at the state level (Exhibits 1.2, 1.3, and 4.1, and Appendix Table 1). Because they are different than the plan-level enrollment files, national totals for these files are not identical to totals in other exhibits.
- Plan benefit files, released annually. These files have more detailed information on cost sharing (e.g., mail order and 90-day supplies) than that in the plan finder files.

Results on plan benefits and formularies were supplemented with results from analysis conducted for the Medicare Payment Advisory Commission (MedPAC) by Elizabeth Hargrave and Katie Merrell (Social & Scientific Systems, Inc.). This analysis used plan benefit and formulary files released by CMS, in addition to the plan landscape and enrollment files. An important element of this analysis is that a drug is defined as a unique chemical entity. Thus, a plan is counted as listing a drug on its formulary if it lists any brand or generic version or any form or strength of the chemical entity. Portions of this analysis are published in MedPAC's annual reports to Congress and data books. We appreciate the cooperation of the MedPAC staff in making information available for this report.

Appendix

lable				e, by State, April 20			
State	Total Part D Enrollment	PDP Enrollment	MA-PD Enrollment	PDP % of Part D Enrollment	MA-PD % of Part D Enrollment		
Alabama	674,276	447,424	226,852	66%	34%		
Alaska	30,099	30,071	28	100%	0%		
Arizona	789,651	377,690	411,961	48%	52%		
Arkansas	394,194	291,286	102,908	74%	26%		
California	4,252,845	2,039,608	2,213,237	48%	52%		
Colorado	533,739	267,590	266,149	50%	50%		
Connecticut	465,855	316,112	149,743	68%	32%		
Delaware	126,865	115,219	11,646	91%	9%		
District of Columbia	49,195	38,490	10,705	78%	22%		
Florida	2,895,176	1,384,946	1,510,230	48%	52%		
Georgia	1,044,958	596,444	448,514	57%	43%		
Hawaii	168,101	60,682	107,419	36%	64%		
Idaho	179,455	99,660	79,795	56%	44%		
Illinois	1,419,314	1,034,611	384,703	73%	27%		
Indiana	811,017	588,653	222,364	73%	27%		
lowa	420,023	350,651	69,372	83%	17%		
Kansas	327,740	270,526	57,214	83%	17%		
Kentucky	616,327	446,704	169,623	72%	28%		
Louisiana	562,025	334,093	227,932	59%	41%		
Maine	210,509	148,431	62,078	71%	29%		
Maryland	538,388	471,794	66,594	88%	12%		
Massachusetts	811,967	575,973	235,994	71%	29%		
Michigan	1,439,622	1,087,610	352,012	76%	24%		
Minnesota	667,788	384,503	283,285	58%	42%		
Mississippi	383,068	310,205	72,863	81%	19%		
Missouri	811,669	516,265	295,404	64%	36%		
Montana	120,583	86,866	33,717	72%	28%		
Nebraska	210,808	179,884	30,924	85%	15%		
Nevada	289,514	146,261	143,253	51%	49%		
New Hampshire	159,459	146,414	13,045	92%	8%		
New Jersey	1,054,953	875,597	179,356	83%	17%		
New Mexico	248,866	138,456	110,410	56%	44%		
New York	2,520,462	1,376,448	1,144,014	55%	45%		
North Carolina	1,252,048	773,367	478,681	62%	38%		
North Dakota	79,060	74,987	4,073	95%	5%		
Ohio	1,617,089	1,022,252	594,837	63%	37%		
Oklahoma Orogon	433,257	335,029	98,228	77%	23%		
Oregon	529,370	237,533	291,837	45%	55%		
Pennsylvania Dhada Island	1,865,183	1,026,865	838,318	55%	45%		
Rhode Island	149,846	81,262	68,584	54%	46%		
South Carolina	644,251	445,225	199,026	69%	31%		
South Dakota	99,340	90,037	9,303	91%	9%		
Tennessee	887,999	494,460	393,539	56%	44%		
Texas	2,435,253	1,534,935	900,318	63%	37%		
Utah	226,773	117,282	109,491	52%	48%		
Vermont	92,538	84,524	8,014	91%	9%		
Virginia	807,448	596,796	210,652	74%	26%		
Washington	725,583	420,865	304,718	58%	42%		
West Virginia	281,025	193,596	87,429	69%	31%		
Wisconsin	709,375	411,714	297,661	58%	42%		
Wyoming	55,408	53,684	1,724	97%	3%		
Total excluding territories	38,119,357	23,529,580	14,589,777	62%	38%		
American Samoa	71	71	0	100%	0%		
Guam	2,973	2,973	0	100%	0%		
Puerto Rico	564,322	11,600	552,722	2%	98%		
U.S. Virgin Islands	10,888	10,888	0	100%	0%		
Total including territories	38,697,611	23,555,112	15,142,499	61%	39%		

NOTE: PDP is prescription drug plan. MA-PD is Medicare Advantage Drug Plan. Includes enrollment in employer-only group plans. SOURCE: Georgetown/NORC analysis of data from CMS for the Kaiser Family Foundation.

Table 2: National Medicare Part D Enrollment by Plan Type, 2006–2015										
Year	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Total Part D Enrollment (in millions)	22.5	24.2	25.6	26.7	27.6	29.3	31.5	35.3	37.4	39.2
PDP Enrollment	16.2	16.9	17.3	17.5	17.6	18.6	19.8	22.5	23.4	24.0
MA–PD Enrollment	6.3	7.2	8.3	9.2	10.0	10.7	11.7	12.8	14.1	15.3
PDP % of Part D	72%	70%	68%	65%	64%	63%	63%	64%	62%	61%
MA-PD % of Part D	28%	30%	32%	35%	36%	37%	37%	36%	38%	39%
Employer Plan Enrollment (in millions)	1.5	1.8	2.1	2.3	2.4	2.9	3.6	5.9	6.5	6.6
Employer Plan % of Part D	7%	7%	8%	8%	9 %	10%	11%	17%	17%	17%
Employer PDP Enrollment	0.7	0.8	0.9	0.9	0.9	1.5	2.2	4.4	4.7	4.7
Employer MA–PD Enrollment	0.8	1.1	1.2	1.4	1.5	1.4	1.4	1.5	1.8	1.9
PDP % of Employer Enrollment	46%	42%	41%	40%	38%	53%	61%	75%	72%	71%
MA-PD % of Employer Enrollment	54%	58%	59%	60%	62%	47%	39%	25%	28%	29%
Non-Employer Plan Part D Enrollment <i>(in millions)</i>	21.0	22.4	23.5	24.4	25.2	26.4	27.9	29.4	30.9	32.6
Non–Employer PDP Enrollment	15.5	16.2	16.5	16.6	16.7	17.1	17.6	18.1	18.6	19.3
Non–Employer MA–PD Enrollment	5.5	6.2	7.0	7.9	8.5	9.4	10.3	11.3	12.3	13.4
PDP % of Non-Employer Enrollment	74%	72%	70%	68%	66%	65%	63%	62%	60%	59%
MA-PD % of Non-Employer Enrollment	26%	28%	30%	32%	34%	35%	37%	38%	40%	41%

NOTE: PDP is prescription drug plan. MA-PD is Medicare Advantage Drug Plan. Includes enrollment in the territories and in employeronly group plans. SOURCE: Georgetown/NORC analysis of data from CMS for the Kaiser Family Foundation.

Endnotes

¹ Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, Medicare Advantage, Cost, PACE, Demo, and Prescription Drug Plan Contract Report - Monthly Summary Report (Data as of April 2015) (available at <u>http://www.cms.gov/MCRAdvPartDEnrolData/MCESR/list.asp</u>).

² Part D allows employer or union group health plan sponsors to enroll Part D eligible individuals in PDPs or MA-PD plans that are designed and open only to individuals affiliated with these sponsors. CMS publishes enrollment numbers for these employer-only plans, but does not release benefit design characteristics. As a result, employer-only plans are excluded from much of the analysis in this report.

³ Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA) and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (HCERA)

⁴ This report is being released along with a companion article in the journal Health Affairs; see John F. Hoadley, Juliette Cubanski, and Patricia Neuman, "Medicare Part D Drug Benefit At 10 Years: Firmly Established But Facing Challenges," *Health Affairs*; October 2015. Analysis from previous years of the Medicare Part D program conducted by the authors is available at <u>www.kff.org</u>.

⁵ Department of Health and Human Services, "Over 38 Million People With Medicare Now Receiving Prescription Drug Coverage," June 14, 2006, available at <u>http://archive.hhs.gov/news/press/2006pres/20060614.html</u>.

⁶ Medicare Payment Advisory Commission, Report to the Congress: Medicare Payment Policy, Chapter 14, March 2015.

⁷ There is evidence that Medicare Advantage enrollment growth (as a whole, beyond Part D) reflects decisions by baby boomers newly eligible for Medicare, but also small shifts in the larger pool of current beneficiaries switching from traditional Medicare to Medicare Advantage plans. Gretchen Jacobson, Patricia Neuman, and Anthony Damico, "At Least Half of New Medicare Advantage Enrollees Had Switched From Traditional Medicare During 2006-11," *Health Affairs* 34(1): 48-55, January 2015.

⁸ For additional discussion of this topic, see Frank McArdle, Tricia Neuman and Jennifer Huang, "Retiree Health Benefits at the Crossroads," Kaiser Family Foundation, April 2014, available at <u>http://kff.org/medicare/report/retiree-health-benefits-at-the-crossroads/</u>.

⁹ 2015 Annual Report of the Boards of Trustees of the Federal Hospital Insurance and Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Funds, July 2015.

¹⁰ This look at market concentration focuses on the total program, including both PDPs and MA-PD plans. Other analysis shows that enrollment in Medicare Advantage plans (including plans that do and do not offer the Part D benefit) is concentrated in a handful of firms, with two firms (UnitedHealth and Humana) having 39 percent of Medicare Advantage enrollment. Gretchen Jacobson et al., "Medicare Advantage 2015 Spotlight: Enrollment Market Update," June 2015, available at <u>http://kff.org/medicare/issuebrief/medicare-advantage-2015-spotlight-enrollment-market-update/</u>.

¹¹ The marketplace analysis in this section, unlike other parts of the analysis, incorporates both PDPs and MA-PD plans and includes plans in the territories and plans offered exclusively to retirees from a particular employer.

¹² According to current guidelines used by the Department of Justice and the Federal Trade Commission, the Part D market is not concentrated. The guidelines indicate that markets in which the index is between 1,500 and 2,500 points are considered to be moderately concentrated. Those in which the index is in excess of 2,500 points are considered to be highly concentrated.

¹³ The Herfindahl-Hirschman index for MA-PD plans nationally is 957, compared to 1,362 for PDPs and 1,047 for both types of plans combined. For more on Medicare Advantage enrollment shares at the local level, see Gretchen Jacobson, Anthony Damico, and Tricia Neuman, "Data Note: Medicare Advantage Enrollment, by Firm, 2015," July 14, 2015, available at http://kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/data-note-medicare-advantage-enrollment-by-firm-2015/.

¹⁴ This analysis if based only on PDP offerings. Most MA-PD plans are not offered on a regional basis, so breaking down enrollment by PDP region is not readily available.

¹⁵ This estimate includes only those MA plans that include Part D benefits. Overall, the average beneficiary has 18 MA plans available. Gretchen Jacobson et al., "Medicare Advantage 2015 Spotlight: Overview of Plan Changes," Kaiser Family Foundation, December 2014, available at http://kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/medicare-advantage-2015-data-spotlight-overview-of-plan-changes/.

¹⁶ CMS, "Announcement of Calendar Year (CY) 2016 Medicare Advantage Capitation Rates and Medicare Advantage and Part D Payment Policies and Final Call Letter," April 2015.

¹⁷ Enhanced PDPs offered by two firms that entered the market in 2014 average 67 enrollees (Symphonix Premier/Rite Aid Premier Rx PDP) and 153 enrollees (Transamerica Medicare Rx Classic PDP).

¹⁸ This count excludes plans without drug coverage and all cost plans. It also excludes drug plans offered by Special Needs Plans (SNPs), a type of Medicare Advantage Plan that limits membership to beneficiaries with specific diseases or characteristics, and Medicare-Medicaid plans (MMPs) participating in the financial alignment initiative (known as dual demo plans). In 2015, 533 SNPs (excluding the territories) and 332 MMPs are offered.

¹⁹ The 2015 average reported here (\$37.02) is lower than the amount reported in the 2015 "First Look" spotlight (\$38.83) because the new average is weighted by actual 2015 enrollment. Jack Hoadley et al., "Medicare Part D: A First Look at Plan Offerings in 2015," October 2014, available at http://kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/medicare-part-d-a-first-look-at-plan-offerings-in-2015/. The average amount is lower because net switches in plan enrollment in the fall open enrollment season (including LIS beneficiaries reassigned to new plans by CMS) were to lower-premium plans. Averages for some previous years differ by small amounts because different months are used for comparability.

 20 This increase is lower than the 57 percent increase in the monthly premium between 2006 and 2015 for a single person enrolled in FEHB BC/BS (from \$125.82/month in 2006 to \$197.23/month in 2015).

²¹ For additional discussion of factors involved in the slow growth in costs, see Jack Hoadley, "Medicare Part D Spending Trends: Understanding Key Drivers and the Role of Competition," May 2012, available at <u>http://kff.org/health-costs/issue-brief/medicare-part-d-spending-trends-understanding-key/</u>.

²² The average premium excludes Special Needs Plans (SNPs) and Medicare-Medicaid plans participating in the financial alignment initiative (known as dual demo plans). The average Part D premium for SNPs (\$22.95) is higher than the MA-PD average, but most costs are incurred by the government since 90 percent of SNP enrollees are LIS beneficiaries. Zero premiums are reported for all MMP plans, which are only open to Medicare-Medicaid beneficiaries. The overall premium in 2015 for MA plans (including services for Parts A, B, and D) that include drug coverage is \$38 per month, up 7 percent from 2014 but down 14 percent from 2010; see Gretchen Jacobson et al., "Medicare Advantage 2015 Spotlight: Enrollment Market Update," June 2015, available at http://kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/medicare-advantage-2015-spotlight-enrollment-market-update/.

²³ Information on these rebates is not available at the plan level. CMS (personal communication) calculated that the average MA-PD premium prior to rebates in 2015 was about \$3 per month lower than those for PDPs, down from \$6.68 in 2014 and \$9.50 in 2013.

²⁴ Jack Hoadley et al., "To Switch or Not to Switch: Are Medicare Beneficiaries Switching Drug Plans To Save Money?" October 2013, available at http://kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/to-switch-or-not-to-switch-are-medicare-beneficiaries-switching-drug-plans-to-save-money/.

²⁵ Jack Hoadley et al., "To Switch or Not to Switch: Are Medicare Beneficiaries Switching Drug Plans To Save Money?" October 2013, available at http://kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/to-switch-or-not-to-switch-are-medicare-beneficiaries-switching-drug-plans-to-save-money/.

²⁶ Our estimates for MA-PD plan sponsor shares of enrollment are slightly different from enrollment estimates in another Kaiser Family Foundation issue brief. Gretchen Jacobson et al., "Medicare Advantage 2015 Spotlight: Enrollment Market Update," June 2015, available at <u>http://kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/medicare-advantage-2015-spotlight-enrollment-market-update/</u>. That analysis included enrollees in Medicare Advantage plans that do not include Part D coverage. Our enrollment shares include employer plans.

²⁷ Like the national averages, other averages presented here are weighted based on April 2015 enrollment.

²⁸ Andrew Stocking et al., "Examining the Number of Competitors and the Cost of Medicare Part D," Working Paper 2014–04, July 2014, available at <u>http://www.cbo.gov/sites/default/files/113th-congress-2013-2014/workingpaper/45553-PartD_1.pdf</u>.

²⁹ For this section, findings on MA-PD plans exclude plans without drug coverage, cost plans, Special Needs Plans (SNPs), and Medicare-Medicaid plans (MMPs) participating in the financial alignment initiative.

³⁰ Kaiser Family Foundation/HRET Survey of Employer-Sponsored Health Benefits, 2015, available at <u>http://kff.org/health-costs/report/2015-employer-health-benefits-survey/</u>.

³¹ In the program's first two years, a small subset of enrollees were in PDPs with one tier each for brand and generic drugs, but use of this model had nearly disappeared by 2012.

³² Kaiser Family Foundation/HRET Survey of Employer-Sponsored Health Benefits, 2015, available at <u>http://kff.org/health-costs/report/2015-employer-health-benefits-survey/</u>.

³³ CBO reports that 70 percent of brand spending was for drugs on the preferred brand tier, 19 percent were non-preferred brands, and 10 percent were specialty drugs. Excluding specialty drugs, the share of preferred brand spending was thus 79 percent. Congressional Budget Office, "Competition and the Cost of Medicare's Prescription Drug Program," July 30, 2014.

³⁴ Medicare Payment Advisory Commission, *A Data Book: Health Care Spending and the Medicare Program*, June 2015. Medicare Payment Advisory Commission, *A Data Book: Medicare Part D Program*, March 2010.

³⁵ Jack Hoadley et al., "Medicare Part D 2010 Data Spotlight: A Comparison of PDPs Offering Basic and Enhanced Benefits," December 2009, available at http://kff.org/medicare/report/medicare-part-d-2010-data-spotlight-a/.

³⁶ Calculation from Kaiser Family Foundation/HRET Survey of Employer-Sponsored Health Benefits, 2015.

³⁷ Norman V. Carroll, "A Comparison of Costs of Medicare Part D Prescriptions Dispensed at Retail and Mail Order Pharmacies," *Journal of Managed Care and Specialty Pharmacy* 20(9):959-67, September 2014.

³⁸ Express Scripts, "The 2014 Drug Trend Report," March 2015.

³⁹ CMS, "Medicare Part D Specialty Tier," April 7, 2015, available at <u>http://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Prescription-Drug-Coverage/PrescriptionDrugCovGenIn/Downloads/CY-2016-Specialty-Tier-Methodology.pdf</u>.

⁴⁰ CMS, "Medicare Part D Manual, Chapter 6, Part D Drugs and Formulary Requirements," March 9, 2007.

⁴¹ Tricia Neuman, Jack Hoadley, and Juliette Cubanski, "The Cost Of A Cure: Medicare's Role In Treating Hepatitis C," available at <u>http://healthaffairs.org/blog/2014/06/05/the-cost-of-a-cure-medicares-role-in-treating-hepatitis-c/</u>.

⁴² As of 2015, CMS no longer refers to preferred or non-preferred pharmacies; instead refers to pharmacies that offer standard or preferred cost sharing.

⁴³ Cost-sharing differentials across pharmacy types do not apply to LIS beneficiaries, because LIS cost-sharing amounts are set by law and updated in regulation each year. The government, however, is responsible for the higher cost sharing if the LIS beneficiary uses a pharmacy that does not offer preferred cost sharing.

⁴⁴ CMS, "Analysis of Part D Beneficiary Access to Preferred Cost Sharing Pharmacies," April 28, 2015, available at <u>http://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Prescription-Drug-Coverage/PrescriptionDrugCovContra/Downloads/PCSP-Key-Results-Report-Final-v04302015.pdf</u>. ⁴⁵ Medicare Payment Advisory Commission, *Report to the Congress: Medicare Payment Policy*, Chapter 14, March 2014.

⁴⁶ CMS, "Part D Claims Analysis: Negotiated Pricing Between Preferred and Non-Preferred Pharmacy Networks," April 30, 2013, available at <u>http://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Prescription-Drug-</u> <u>Coverage/PrescriptionDrugCovGenIn/Downloads/PharmacyNetwork.pdf</u>. Note that this study did not name the plans.

⁴⁷ Jack Hoadley, "Maintaining Access to Medications When Plans Implement Tiered Pharmacy Networks," JAMA Internal Medicine, published online, September 8, 2015.

⁴⁸ Medicare rules do not count mail order options in meeting access standards.

49 CMS, "Analysis of Part D Beneficiary Access to Preferred Cost Sharing Pharmacies," April 28, 2015, available at http://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Prescription-Drug-Coverage/PrescriptionDrugCovContra/Downloads/PCSP-Kev-Results-Report-Finalv04302015.pdf.

⁵⁰ Medicare Payment Advisory Commission, *Report to the Congress: Medicare Payment Policy*, Chapter 14, March 2015.

⁵¹ CMS, "'Announcement of Calendar Year (CY) 2016 Medicare Advantage Capitation Rates and Medicare Advantage and Part D Payment Policies and Final Call Letter," April 2015.

⁵² These results are from analysis for MedPAC, conducted by Elizabeth Hargrave and Katie Merrell (see Methodology note). For that analysis, the universe of drugs includes all unique chemical entities in the CMS reference file. For example, plans are considered to cover a drug if they cover any version of drug, for example if they cover a generic version but not the brand version or if they omit certain forms or strengths of the drug. Formulary data were unavailable for plans under sanction at the time of the annual enrollment period.

⁵³ Plans must list at least two drugs in every drug category and class, as well as most or all drugs in six protected classes. See CMS, Chapter 6, "Part D Drugs and Formulary Requirements" in the Medicare Part D Manual, available at http://www.cms.hhs.gov.

⁵⁴ Medicare Payment Advisory Commission, *Report to the Congress: Medicare Payment Policy*, Chapter 14, March 2015.

⁵⁵ These results are also from the analysis for MedPAC (see Methodology note). That analysis classifies a drug as having a particular type of utilization management if that characteristic applies to any form or strength of the drug that is on the lowest possible tier used by that plan for that drug.

⁵⁶ Medicare Payment Advisory Commission, Report to the Congress: Medicare Payment Policy, Chapter 3, March 2009.

⁵⁷ Total LIS enrollment in April 2015 calculated from the Medicare Beneficiary Summary File is modestly higher than the total derived from plan enrollment files: 12.2 million versus 11.7 million.

⁵⁸ Authors' analysis of the 5-percent sample, 2006-2013.

⁵⁹ Laura Summer, Jack Hoadley, and Elizabeth Hargrave, "The Medicare Part D Low-Income Subsidy Program: Experience to Date and Policy Issues for Consideration," Kaiser Family Foundation, September 2010," available at http://kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/themedicare-part-d-low-income-subsidy/.

⁶⁰ For example, in 2015, enrollees in different benchmark PDPs sponsored by Cigna in 16 regions were consolidated into a single benchmark PDP as a result of the acquisition of HealthSpring by Cigna in 2012.

⁶¹ This excludes 10 plans where 69,000 LIS enrollees had the option of being transferred to other benchmark plans offered by the same sponsor as a result of mergers.

⁶² In addition, enrollees in MA-PD plans that exited the market are classified as reassigned to a new PDP by CMS, but are not included in our counts. Many of these were reassigned to PDPs operated by the same sponsor as their MA-PD plan, unless they chose another MA-PD plan. Those who had no PDP available from the same sponsor were randomly reassigned to a PDP.

63 Jack Hoadley et al., "To Switch or Be Switched: Examining Changes in Drug Plan Enrollment among Medicare Part D Low-Income Subsidy Enrollees," July 2015, available at http://kff.org/medicare/report/to-switch-or-be-switched-examining-changes-in-drug-planenrollment-among-medicare-part-d-low-income-subsidy-enrollees/.

⁶⁴ Star ratings are assigned at the contract level, not the plan level, and many plan sponsors operate all their PDPs under the same contract. Thus, Humana's older and more expensive Enhanced PDP, the Preferred Rx PDP, and the newly offered Walmart Rx PDP are all assigned the same ratings even if enrollees in one plan rate them differently on satisfaction measures or have different outcomes.

⁶⁵ Because the cut points by which CMS translates scores on the ratings criteria to stars is different for PDPs and MA-PD plans, comparisons between the star ratings should be viewed with some caution.

⁶⁶ See Jack Hoadley et al., "To Switch or Not to Switch: Are Medicare Beneficiaries Switching Drug Plans To Save Money?" October 2013, available at http://kff.org/report-section/to-switch-or-not-to-switch-issue-brief/, for the data and methods used for this finding.

⁶⁷ Gretchen Jacobson et al., "How Are Choosing and Changing Health Insurance Plans?" Kaiser Family Foundation, May 2014, available at http://kff.org/medicare/report/how-are-seniors-choosing-and-changing-health-insurance-plans/

68 Jack Hoadley, "Medicare Part D Spending Trends: Understanding Key Drivers and the Role of Competition," May 2012, available at http://kff.org/health-costs/issue-brief/medicare-part-d-spending-trends-understanding-key/.

⁶⁹ "2015 Annual Report of the Boards of Trustees of the Federal Hospital Insurance and Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Funds," July 2015; Tricia Neuman, Jack Hoadley, and Juliette Cubanski, "The Cost Of A Cure: Medicare's Role In Treating Hepatitis C," available at http://healthaffairs.org/blog/2014/06/05/the-cost-of-a-cure-medicares-role-in-treating-hepatitis-c/.

⁷⁰ Jack Hoadley et al., "To Switch or Not to Switch: Are Medicare Beneficiaries Switching Drug Plans To Save Money?" October 2013, available at http://kff.org/report-section/to-switch-or-not-to-switch-issue-brief/.

Medicare Part D at Ten Years: The 2015 Marketplace and Key Trends, 2006–2015

⁷¹ Drew Altman, "Why Higher Drug Costs Are Consumers' Biggest Cost Worry," *Wall Street Journal*, Washington Wire, available at <u>http://blogs.wsj.com/washwire/2015/09/08/why-higher-drug-costs-are-consumers-biggest-cost-worry/</u>.

⁷² Jack Hoadley, Katie Merrell, Elizabeth Hargrave, and Laura Summer, "In Medicare Part D Plans, Low or Zero Copays and Other Features to Encourage the Use of Generic Statins Work, Could Save Billions," *Health Affairs* 31(10): 2266-2275, October 2012.



THE HENRY J. KAISER FAMILY FOUNDATION

Headquarters 2400 Sand Hill Road Menlo Park, CA 94025 Phone 650-854-9400 Fax 650-854-4800

Washington Offices and Barbara Jordan Conference Center 1330 G Street, NW Washington, DC 20005 Phone 202-347-5270 Fax 202-347-5274

www.kff.org

This publication (#8782) is available on the Kaiser Family Foundation's website at www.kff.org.

Filling the need for trusted information on national health issues, the Kaiser Family Foundation is a nonprofit organization based in Menlo Park, California.